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Our MiSsion
To maintain our position as one
of the leaders in Asia Pacific
To be an active global player and
be recognized as one of the elite
marketing communications
houses globally
To provide exciting and fulfilling
career opportunities for all
members through continual
expansion and continuous learning

Innovation+Service+Commitment+Creativity

CORPORATE PROFILE

Designed for Growth

= Growth

As a one-stop design, production and logistics
center, Kingsmen tops as a leading communications
design and production entity in the Asia Pacific
region. Providing clients with integrated solutions
in Exhibitions & Museums, Retail & Office Interiors,
Research & Design and Integrated Marketing
Communications, Kingsmen is the epitome of a
reliable global marketing communications firm.
With our core beliefs in innovation, service,
commitment and creativity, we work unceasingly to
produce excellent results that will bring profits to our
clients. Our accomplishments are our testaments of
our commitment to design, quality and service.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FY2003
S$’000    

FY2004
S$’000   

FY2005
S$’000    

FY2006
S$’000  

Results For the Year
Turnover
Gross profit
Gross profit margin
Net profit before taxation
Net profit for the year attributable
    to equity holders of the parent

53,477
14,880
27.8%
2,126

63,261
16,467
26.0%
1,795

76,742
20,541
26.8%
2,883

108,945
27,784
25.5%
6,110

1,528

1,261

2,192

4,937

7,582
12,271
496
1,526
14,293

7,582
13,108
685
453
14,246

7,582
14,708
830
944
16,482

10,982
18,520
641
1,681
20,842

12.4%
12.0%

3.5%
3.3%

6.4%
6.1%

9.1%
8.8%

1.78
1.78
0.75
12.27

1.26
1.26
0.70
12.97

2.17
2.17
1.00
14.55

4.88
4.88
2.00
18.32

12.45%

9.60%

14.90%

26.66%

At Year-End
Share Capital
Shareholders’ funds
Minority interests
Short and long-term borrowings
Total funds invested
Debt-equity ratio (%)
   Excluding minority interests
   Including minority interests

Per Share (cents)
Earnings - basic
Earnings - diluted
Dividends
Net assets

Return on shareholders’ equity (%)
After Taxation
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

TURNOVER BY ACTIVITIES
December 2005
S$’000
%

December 2006
S$’000
%

Revenue
Exhibitions and Museums
Interiors
Research and Design
Integrated Marketing Communications

30,362
41,603
2,467
2,310

39.6%
54.2%
3.2%
3.0%

46,794
56,039
3,453
2,659

43.0%
51.4%
3.2%
2.4%

Total turnover

76,742

100.0%

108,945

100.0%

TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHY
December 2005
S$’000
%

December 2006
S$’000
%

Revenue
Singapore
Malaysia
Vietnam
Asia
Europe
United States & Canada
Others

40,198
9,582
5,636
7,997
5,211
7,990
128

52.4%
12.5%
7.3%
10.4%
6.8%
10.4%
0.2%

59,109
12,323
5,181
17,813
7,113
6,998
408

54.2%
11.3%
4.8%
16.4%
6.5%
6.4%
0.4%

Total turnover

76,742

100.0%

108,945

100.0%

TURNOVER BY ACTIVITES
3.2%

TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHY

2.4%

6.4%

0.4%

6.5%

43.0%

16.4%
54.2%

51.4%
4.8%

11.3%

Exhibitions and Museums
Interiors
Research and Design
Integrated Marketing Communications

Singapore
Malaysia
Vietnam
Asia

Europe
United States & Canada
Others
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Financial Performance
Group
Turnover
Exhibitions and museums
Interiors
Research and design
Integrated marketing communications
Total turnover
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income
Operating expenses
Profit before share of results of associates
Share of results of associates
Financial expenses
Financial income
Profit before taxation
Taxation
Profit for the financial year
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interests

FY2006
S$’000  

FY2005
S$’000  

46,794
56,039
3,453
2,659

30,362
41,603
2,467
2,310

54%
35%
40%
15%

108,945
(81,161)
27,784
1,456
(23,398)
5,842
256
(81)
93
6,110
(1,426)

76,742
(56,201)
20,541
890
(18,679)
2,752
184
(65)
12
2,883
(519)

42%
44%
35%
64%
25%
112%
39%
25%
675%
112%
175%

4,684
         
4,937
(253)

2,364
2,192
172

4,684

2,364

Change
%

98%
          
125%
n/m
98%

Revenue
Revenue for FY2006 increased by $32.21 million to $108.95 million as compared to $76.74 million for FY2005. The increase in revenue
was mainly contributed by both the Group’s Exhibitions and Museums division and Interiors division. Revenue from the Research and Design
division and Integrated Marketing Communications (“IMC”) division has also improved.
The Exhibitions and Museums division achieved a significant growth of 54% in revenue from $30.36 million in FY2005 to $46.79 million in
FY2006. The revenue contributor to this division includes major exhibitions events such as the Asian Aerospace, Arabian Travel Mart, Cityscape,
CommunicAsia, Farnborough Airshow, ITB Berlin, SIBOS and TFAP. The Group has also continued to undertake the event launches for BMW in
Singapore and Yamaha Motors in Vietnam, as well as the year round Sure Heboh event in Malaysia throughout FY2006.
On the museum side, FY2006 saw the completion of two major museum projects, namely, the National Museum of Singapore and the
i-Space/i-Future Exhibition project. These two major projects’ contract value totalled $11.84 million.
The Interiors division also achieved a significant increase of 35% in revenue of $14.44 million from $41.60 million in FY2005 to $56.04 million
in FY2006. The growth in the retail sector is evident, with the opening of the new mega shopping and entertainment complex, Vivo City, which
by itself has contributed approximately $10.08 million to the Group’s turnover in the fourth quarter.
The Group has continued to focus on key accounts management with an overall macro view on the needs of its customers and to offer
“roll-out programmes” to cater to their regional needs. Approximately 75% of the revenue from the Interiors division was derived from
key accounts, which include Adidas, Baccarat, Dickson Group, DBS/POSBank, DFS, Esprit, FJ Benjamin, GRI, The Hour Glass, Marionnaud
Perfumaries, Nokia, Nuance-Watsons, Osim, P&G, Performance Motors, Philip Electronics, Samsung, Watsons and Wing Tai. Of these, about
$9.45 million were from the export of fixtures.
The Research and Design division achieved a revenue of $3.45 million for FY2006 as compared with $2.47 million in FY2005. The increase
is due to more design jobs undertaken in FY2006, which is in tandem with the overall growth of the Group. Revenue from the IMC division
increased marginally from $2.31 million to $2.66 million.
Gross Profit
Gross profit (“GP”) increased by $7.24 million or 35% to $27.78 million in FY2006 as compared to $20.54 million in FY2005.
Gross profit margin for FY2006 was 25.5% as compared to 26.8% for FY2005. The slightly lower GP margin in FY2006 is mainly due to the
Asian Aerospace event as well as the i-Space/i-Future Exhibition project, both of which contributed positive absolute margins but at a lower
gross profit in terms of percentage (%).
04
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Other Income
Other income, which comprises mainly rental income, corporate fees and miscellaneous income, increased from $890,000 in FY2005 to
$1.46 million in FY2006 due to:a) Higher rental income from the sublet of premises/factory of $770,000 (FY2005: $351,000). This increase is due to the rental income
derived from the new production facility in Johor Bahru, which was set up only at the beginning of FY2006.
b) higher corporate fee income from affiliated companies of $377,000 (FY2005: $298,000)
c) higher miscellaneous income of $112,000 (FY2005: $54,000)
Operating Expenses
Group

Staff salaries and related expenses
Directors’ remuneration and fees
     Staff costs
Premises and equipment
Rental of premises
     Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
     Rental of equipment and vehicles
     Property, plant and equipment written off
     Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Selling and marketing expenses
Bad and doubtful debts expenses
Net exchange loss/(gain)
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

FY2006
S$’000  

FY2005
  S$’000

Change
  %

4,572
10,720

3,346
9,122

37%
18%

1,948
1,137
70
57
7
497
1,248
192
2,950

1,466
795
44
8
(55)
268
433
(34)
3,286

33%
43%
59%
613%
n/m
85%
188%
nm
(10%)

23,398

18,679

25%

    

Operating expenses increased from $18.68 million for FY2005 to $23.40 million for FY2006 due to the following: a) Expenses due to the operations of the newly set up production facilities in Johor Bahru, amounting to $502,000 comprising mainly:i) Rental of premises expenses amounting to $373,000
ii) Depreciation expenses of $37,000
iii) Additional staff cost of $8,000
iv) Other general and administrative expenses of $84,000
The factory/workshop occupies a premise of 200,000 sq ft and is located next to Senai Airport in Johor Bahru. It was set up in April 06
and its main activities are to manufacture interior and exhibition furniture, as well as retail display fixtures.
b) Increase in operating expenses of the Group’s other existing Singapore, Vietnam and Malaysia subsidiaries of $4.22 million (FY2006:
$22.90 million; FY2005: $18.68 million) comprising:i) Increase in staff salaries and related expenses from $9.19 million to $10.71 million
ii) Increase in directors’ remuneration from $2.88 million to $3.35 million
iii) Increase in directors’ incentive payment from $407,000 to $1.22 million
iv) Increase in bad and doubtful debts expenses from $433,000 to $1.25 million
v) Increase in depreciation expenses from $795,000 to $1.10 million
vi) Increase in premises rental expenses from $1.47 million to $1.58 million
vii) Increase in selling and marketing expenses from $268,000 to $497,000
viii) Exchange loss of $192,000 for FY2006 as compared with an exchange gain of of $34,000
Offset by:ix) Decrease in other General and Administration expenses from $3.29 million to $2.87 million
Share of Results of Associates before taxation
This relates to the share of results before taxation of the associated companies, namely Ascend Computer Rental Pte Ltd (40%), Kingsmen
(Korea) Limited (30%), and Kingsmen Nikko Limited (30%).
Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation increased by $3.23 million or 112% to $6.11 million for FY2006 as compared to $2.88 million for FY2005.
AR06 • KINGSMEN CREATIVES
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EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

Designed for Growth

Dear Shareholders,
In our short history with the SGX, FY2006 was by far the best year. We made progress in all sectors
of our business. The bullish business environment produced a vibrant marketplace and our company
was able to capture the opportunities presented.
Improved work processes and appropriate business focus have produced the desired results. These
included serving key accounts that provided us with multiple projects, cost management and staff
knowledge and machinery upgrading.

Financial Performance and Dividend
We achieved a turnover of S$109m which translates to an increase of 42% in 2006 and a net profit
after tax of S$4.94m, an increase of 125% compared to last year’s. Our Compounded Annual
Growth Rate over the last three financial years is  31.2% for turnover and 98% for profitability.
Year 2006 saw all sectors of businesses grew both in turnover and profits. More significantly,
we managed to improve our profit margin before tax. To reward our shareholders, our Board of
Directors is proposing a dividend of 1.5 cents and a special dividend of 0.5 cents per ordinary share.

Our Achievements
Our 200,000 sq. ft. production facility in Johor, Malaysia, which started in April 2006, gives the
needed boost to the confidence of our customers and staff. The fully-equipped premises are suitable
for all the key processes and components in producing shop-fittings and tradeshow stands, hence,
enabling us to achieve greater cost efficiency.
I am also happy to report that our two new subsidiaries, PT Kingsmen Indonesia and
Kingsmen Ooh-media Pte Ltd, are already turning-in profits in their first full financial year.
Significantly, 2006 was the 30th anniversary of the founding of Kingsmen. During the year
Kingsmen received three important public accolades that appropriately represent the company’s
virtues, President’s Design Award which represents Good Design, Interior Builder Award which
represents Production and Service Quality and finally, Regional Brand Award which represents our
successful presence in the region.
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2006 saw all sectors of businesses grow both
“ Year
in turnover and profits. More significantly, we
managed to improve our profit margin before tax.
“
Growth Strategies and Business Outlook
Subject to valuation and Board of Directors’ approval, part of the Greater China, India and Dubai
offices will be injected into our company by the second half of 2007. This would yield a positive
effect on the next financial result of the company.  
We shall continue to seek new overseas markets for our shop-fittings export by consistently
focusing our marketing strategies to US, Middle East and Europe.
In the region, several new shopping centres will open within the next 12 months in Singapore and
Malaysia. With our enhanced capability, we foresee that we will be commissioned to undertake
many projects in these new shopping centres.
Business outlook in the near and medium term appears to be exciting for our areas of expertise.
The Asian and Middle East markets, where all our offices are situated, are growing faster than
most of the other regions in the world. I am therefore bullish about the business prospect for the
near future.

Acknowledgements
I would like to thank all members of Kingsmen, who have worked most diligently to enable us to
achieve our targets for the year.
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would also like to thank our customers for entrusting us
with their projects, from design to production and marketing communication. It is our sincere
hope that our best endeavours towards those projects will bring success to our clients.
Thank you to all the investors for believing that Kingsmen can reach greater heights and we look
forward to your continuous support.
In conclusion, on behalf of everyone at Kingsmen, we pledge to constantly seek ways of providing
better value to all stakeholders.

Benedict Soh
Executive Chairman
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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1. Benedict Soh
2. Khoo Ho Tong
3. Lee Hock Lye

Benedict Soh, Executive Chairman
Benedict Soh is our Executive Chairman. He is responsible for the strategic planning and business
development of our Group and oversees day-to-day management as well. Mr Soh has more
than 30 years of experience in the design and production of interiors and exhibits. He is one of
our founders and has contributed significantly to the growth of our Group. Mr Soh serves as
the Chairman of the Exhibition Management Services Standards Working Committee of Spring
Singapore. He is the chairman of the Research Committee of the Singapore Association of
Convention & Exhibition Organisers & Suppliers and the president-elect of Rotary Club of Pandan
Valley. Mr Soh was awarded a Master in Business Administration from the University of Hull in the
United Kingdom.
Khoo Ho Tong, Independent Director
Khoo Ho Tong is our Independent Director. He is currently a partner of Messrs H.T. Khoo &
Company, a public accounting firm, and has been a practising public accountant for over
20 years. Mr Khoo is also involved in a number of professional associations. He is a council
member and member of various sub-committees of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
Singapore and the treasurer of the Asean Federation of Accountants. At present, Mr. Khoo is
a Director at Aztech Systems Ltd and JK Technology Group Limited. He is also the Chairman of
the Audit Committee at Asiatravel.com Holdings Ltd, Nam Lee Pressed Metal Industries Limited
and Tastyfood Holdings Ltd. He was also a former Director at Eng Kong Holdings Ltd and former
Chairman of the Audit Committee at Asiamedic Limited. Mr Khoo is a Fellow Certified Public
Accountant in Singapore.
Lee Hock Lye, Independent Director
Lee Hock Lye was appointed as an Independent Director of our Group since August 2003. He
has extensive experience in banking and finance and is currently a Managing Director at HSBC
Private Bank (Suisse) SA, Singapore branch. Mr. Lee has been with the HSBC group in Singapore
for over 30 years. He is also presently a Director at Tri-M Technologies (S) Ltd and an Associate
of the Chartered Institute of Bankers, UK. Mr Lee graduated with a Bachelor of Social Sciences
(Honours) degree in Economics from the University of Singapore.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

4. Simon Ong
5. Prabhakaran N. Nair
6. Anthony Chong
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4.

Simon Ong, Group Managing Director
Simon Ong is our Group Managing Director. He is responsible for the strategic planning of
our Group and the development of our Group’s image as well as creative standard.
Mr Ong is one of the founders of our Group and has contributed significantly to the growth
of our Group for the past 30 years. Mr Ong was the President of the Interior Designers
Association, Singapore (1995-1997) and Vice-Chairman of the Potong Pasir Community Club
Management Committee (1998-2003). He is currently a member of the Advisory Committee
of Temasek Polytechnic (School of Design), an IDP member of the Singapore Design Council
and Chairman of the Design Development Committee of the Singapore Furniture Industrial
Council. He was awarded a Master of Business Administration from the University of South
Australia and a Master of Design from the University of New South Wales.

5.

Prabhakaran N. Nair, Independent Director
Prabhakaran Nayaranan Nair was appointed as an Independent Director of our Group since
August 2003. He is an Advocate and Solicitor of Singapore and is currently a partner of a law
firm, Messrs Ong Tan & Nair. He has been practising law in this law firm since 1986. Mr Nair
is the Honorary Legal Advisor of the Singapore Judo Federation, Jurong Football Club and
Mar Thoma Syrian Church. He obtained his law degree from the University of Singapore.

6.

Anthony Chong, Executive Director (Exhibitions & Museums)
Anthony Chong is our Executive Director. He is responsible for the sales and day-to-day
operations and management of the Exhibitions and Museums division. Employed by our
Group since 1981, he has had experience in project management of different disciplines of
exhibitions, retail interiors and museums. From mid-1989, he was appointed Project Director
to oversee the operations of our Exhibitions and Museums division. He then rose to his
present position of Executive Director in 1999. Mr Chong is a committee member (training)
of the Singapore Association for Convention and Exhibition Organizers and Suppliers. Mr
Chong was awarded a Master of Business Administration from the Victoria University of
Technology in Australia.

4
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

from left to right:

Michael Ng Hung Chiao,
Francis Yee Chee Kong
Alex Wee Huat Seng
Roy Ong Chin Kwan
Gerald Tay Kay Sock
Richard Tan Kwong Ngiap
Stephen Lim Hock Chye
Cheong Chai Keng
Judith Low Chu Li
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Michael Ng Hung Chiao is a Director of Kingsmen
Exhibits Pte Ltd. He is responsible for the day-to-day
operations and leading and motivating the sales and
operations team. He is also involved in expanding the
clientele base and maintaining key accounts of both
local and international clients. From 1975 to 1978,
he was an Assistant Technician (Construction) with
Jurong Town Corporation. From 1978 to 1980, he was
a Marketing Executive with United Public M&E Pte
Ltd. Thereafter he joined Item Pte Ltd as a Marketing
Executive from 1981 to 1983. Michael Ng joined
Kingsmen Exhibitions Builders Pte Ltd in 1984 as a
Sales and Marketing Manager and was made a Director
of Kingsmen Exhibits Pte Ltd in 1991. He received a
Master in Business Administration (Marketing) from the
University of Hull in the United Kingdom.

Alex Wee Huat Seng is a Director of Kingsmen
Projects Pte Ltd. He is responsible for the day-today operations, business development, project
management and management routine of Kingsmen
Projects Pte Ltd. He has been with Kingsmen Projects
Pte Ltd since 1990 and has held various positions
including Senior Project Manager and Division
Manager. He was appointed Director in 2000. He
was awarded a   Certificate of Completion from
the University of Newcastle in Australia for the
Construction Economics and Quantity Surveying
Program in 2000. He has also received a Certificate
in Interior Finishing Co-Ordination from BCA. In Year
2004, Mr. Wee graduated with a Bachelor (Honours)
degree in Construction Management from University
of Newcastle of Australia.

Francis Yee Chee Kong is a Director of Kingsmen
Projects Pte Ltd. He is responsible for the day-today operations, sales development and project
management of Kingsmen Projects Pte Ltd. He joined
our Group in 1989 as Project Executive where he was
in charge of sales and project management. Thereafter,
he held various positions including Senior Project
Manager and Division Manager. He was appointed
Project Director in 1999. Mr Yee studied Furniture
Design and Production at the Baharuddin Vocation
Institute and was awarded a certificate by the Industrial
Training Board.

Roy Ong Chin Kwan is our Creative Director. His
responsibilities include charting creative directions for
Kingsmen Design Pte Ltd and managing our team
of over 40 designers and ensuring that all works
produced by the team meet the aesthetic, functional
and budgetary requirements of our clients. From 1981
to 1989, he was at Chhada Siembieda & Associates
as senior draughtsman involved in mainly hospitality
design. From 1989 to 1991, he was a senior designer
in Tema Colleciones Pte Ltd. He worked as a freelance
associate designer for our Group before joining our
Group as a senior designer in July 1996. Mr Ong is a
member of the Interior Design Association, Singapore.
He received a Master of Design from the University of
New South Wales.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Gerald Tay Kay Sock is our Design Director. He
is responsible for the day-today operations and for
the efficiency of the designers from the point of
conceptualization to implementation. He joined our
Group in 1985 as a designer and was promoted to
senior designer in 1988. He was then promoted to
Design Director of Kingsmen Design Pte Ltd in 2000.
He is experienced both in interior and exhibition
projects. His first job from 1983 to 1985, was as a
designer at Yada Planners & Designers Pte Ltd. Mr Tay
is a member of the Interior Designers’ Association,
Singapore. He was awarded the Industrial Technician
Certificate in Interior Design by the Vocation and
Industrial Training Board in Singapore.

Stephen Lim Hock Chye is a Director of Kingsmen
Indochina Pte Ltd. He is currently responsible for the
day-to-day operations; sales, marketing and financial
matters of our Vietnam Operations. He has also been
the General Director of Kingsmen Vietnam Co., Ltd, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Kingsmen Indochina Pte Ltd,
since 1998. Mr Lim has more than 23 years experience in
operations & project management in different disciplines
of exhibitions, events and retail interiors. In 1992, he
joined Kingsmen Indochina Pte Ltd as General Manager
with responsibilities for its overall operations in Vietnam.
In 1994, he became a director of Kingsmen Indochina Pte
Ltd. Mr Lim completed his secondary school education in
1973.

richard Tan Kwong Ngiap is the Director of I-Promo
Events and Marketing Pte Ltd. His responsibilities
include developing the business direction of I-Promo
Events and Marketing Pte Ltd and formulating
marketing strategies. From 1985 to 1994, he was the
Vice President of Reed Exhibition Companies where he
was in charge of sales and marketing and organizing
exhibitions and conferences in Asia. From 1995 to
1998, he joined RAI Exhibitions Singapore Pte Ltd as
Managing Director and was in charge of setting up the
Asian headquarters in Singapore. He was also involved
in formulating, launching and managing exhibitions
and conferences in Asia. In 2000, Mr Tan joined Suntec
City Exhibition & Convention Centre as the Event
Director and was responsible for the formulation,
launch and management of the exhibitions, events and
conferences taking place at the Suntec City Exhibition &
Convention Centre. In 2001, he set up I-Promo Events
and Marketing Pte Ltd with Kingsmen International Pte
Ltd and he was appointed its director. He received a
Master of Business Administration (Strategic Marketing)
from the University of Hull in the United Kingdom.

Cheong Chai Keng is the Director of our Malaysia
Operations. He is responsible for the day-to-day
operations, marketing and financial matters of our
Malaysian operations. Mr Cheong joined our Malaysia
operations in 1983 as a designer and was promoted to
a project manager in 1985. He then became director
of the then Keb Systems Sdn Bhd in 1985. He obtained
a diploma in Mechanical Engineering from the Federal
Institute Technology.
Judith Low Chu LI is our Financial Controller and is
responsible for the overall management of our Group’s
financial reporting, internal control and accounting
processes. Before joining the Group, she was the
Financial Controller of another listed company in
Singapore and prior to that an Auditor with Ernst and
Young. Ms Low obtained her Bachelor of Accountancy
from Nanyang Technological University and is a Certified
Public Accountant with the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants of Singapore.
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Throughout the years, our
Exhibitions and Museums Division
has been successfully providing
our clients with integrated
solutions ranging from design
conceptualization and project
management to production
of tradeshows, special events,
museums and visitors centers.

Innovation +Service+

Commitment+Creativity
The Division achieved significant
growth in 2006. Revenue grew
by 54% from $30.36 million to
$46.79 in 2006, arising from major
exhibitions such as the Asian
Aerospace, Arabian Travel Mart,
CommunicAsia, SIBOS , Tax Free
Asia Pacific and event launches for
BMW. It also saw the completion
of two major museum projects, the
National Museum of Singapore
and i-Space/i-Future Exhibition in
Singapore Science Centre.
This year, the Division will continue
to explore growth opportunities
in Malaysia and Vietnam; both
countries have booming tourism
industries, new infrastructure
endeavors, and major developments
in the retail and exhibition sectors
to capitalize on.

Exhibitions and MuseumS

Combining design innovations and creative
production works, Kingsmen continues
to produce cutting-edge designs that are
brilliantly executed. By incorporating our
research with the clients’ insights, we help
them achieve their marketing objectives.

1. National Museum of Singapore
2. Bussel, Kyung Hyang Housing Fair, Korea
3. ST Engineering, Asian Aerospace, Singapore

Our Interiors Division offers carefully
thought-out and visually engaging
interior design and fit-out services
for retail stores, restaurants, banks,
department stores, corporate offices
and showrooms. With sustained robust
market response last year, the Division
was able to maintain its growth as
revenue jumped to 35%, from $14.44
million to $41.60 million in 2006.

Innovation+ Service +
Commitment+Creativity

This is attributed to the opening of the
new mega shopping and entertainment
complex, ViVo City, which contributed
about $10.08 million to the Group’s
turnover in the 4th Quarter.
Key accounts such as Adidas, Baccarat,
Dickson Group, DBS/POSBank, DFS,
Esprit, FJ Benjamin, GRI, The Hour
Glass, Marionnaud Perfumaries,
Nokia, Nuance-Watsons, Osim,
P&G, Performance Motors, Philips
Electronics, Samsung, Watsons and
Wing Tai continued to be the Group’s
core revenue-generating accounts.

Retail and Office InteriorS

With over 30 years of solid experience in
providing quality design and production services,
Kingsmen has built a steadfast reputation of being
trustworthy in providing professional services to
our clients globally. Since our inception, we have
been creating some of the finest interiors for retail
stores, banks, department stores, corporate offices,
restaurants and specialty stores.

1.Chanel, Singapore
2. Adidas, Singapore
3. Topman, Singapore

In consonance with Kingsmen’s
tradition of providing quality services
that exceed customers’ expectations,
we continue to offer an array of sound
marketing and branding services that
can enhance our clients’ business
strategies and brand awareness
among their customers.

Innovation+Service+
Commitment+Creativity

Our Integrated Marketing
Communications Division manages
extensive range of events, including
product launches, press and public
events, sponsored events and in-house
promotions of shopping malls.

Integrated Marketing CommunicationS

Standing by our strong belief in quality and
exceeding customers’ expectations, we unceasingly
provide effective end-to-end solutions to our clients.
In doing so, we continue to demonstrate that we
posses the power to integrate different marketing
communications mixes to yield better
ROIs for our clients.

1. Nissan Design Forum, Singapore
2. National Day Parade, Singapore
3. BMW Art Cars, Singapore

With more than 50 designers from
diverse cultures in our Research
and Design Division, we are able to
incorporate local and international
ideas and ensure individuality in each
design. Through continous training,
we mastered the ability of conducting
thorough researches to match the
marketing objectives with their
customers’ behaviors and needs.
The Division’s revenue rose from $2.47

Innovation+Service+
Commitment+ Creativity
million in 2005 to $3.45 million in 2006
as it continues to undertake more design
jobs throughout the year. In addition,
Kingsmen continued to generate waves in
the industry with the following awards:
•	Interior Builder Award from Singapore
Furniture Industry Awards 2006
• Citibusiness - SPBA Regional
Brand Award 2006
• Outstanding Merit from NASFM Retail
Design Awards 2007, USA; and
• Design of the Year during Singapore’s
inaugural President’s Design Award
2006 for MINI Habitat.

Research and Design

Our talented design team works closely with
our clients to conceptualize cost-effective and
feasible solutions that suit their needs. These
ingenious designs capture both the current
trends and award-winning ideas that would
maximize our client’s marketing endeavors.

1. Swensen’s, Singapore
2. Webzen, E3, USA
3. Gap, Singapore
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Kingsmen Creatives Ltd. (“the Company”) is committed to achieving a high standard of corporate governance, and to complying with the
Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (‘‘the Code’’) issued by the Corporate Governance Committee. The Company believes that good
corporate governance provides the framework for an ethical and accountable corporate environment, which will safeguard the interests
of shareholders. The Company is pleased to confirm that throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2006 (‘‘FY2006’’), it has
generally adhered to the principles and guidelines as set out in the Code, except for certain deviations which are explained below.

1. BOARD MATTERS
The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs
Principle 1:Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the Company. The Board is collectively
responsible for the success of the Company. The Board works with Management to achieve this and the Management remains
accountable to the Board.
The principal functions of the Board of Directors are to:•
set and direct the long-term vision and strategic direction of the Group;
•
review the performance of the Group’s management;
•
establish a proper risk management system to ensure that key potential risks faced by the Group are properly identified and
managed;
•
conduct periodic review of the Group’s internal controls, financial performance, compliance practices and resource allocation;
•
approve annual budgets, proposals for acquisitions, investments and disposals;
•
review corporate governance practices; and
•
set the Company’s values and standards, and ensure that obligations to shareholders and others are understood and met.
Presently, the Board comprises six Directors (of whom three are independent Directors). Information on and profiles of the Directors are
set out in the Board of Directors’ section of this Annual Report. The Board of Directors is constituted as follows:Executive Directors
Mr Benedict Soh Siak Poh, Executive Chairman
Mr Simon Ong Chin Sim, Group Managing Director
Mr Anthony Chong Siew Ling, Executive Director
Independent Directors
Mr Lee Hock Lye
Mr Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair
Mr Khoo Ho Tong
The Board of Directors meets at least four times a year and at other times as appropriate and is entrusted with the responsibility for the
overall management and corporate affairs of the Group. It delegates the formulation of business policies and day-to-day management to
the Executive Directors. Matters which specifically require the Board’s decision or approval are those involving:•
corporate strategy and business plans;
•
investment and divestment proposals;
•
funding decisions of the Group;
•
nominations of Board Directors and appointment of key personnel;
•
half-year and full-year results for announcements, annual reports and accounts;
•
material acquisitions and disposals of assets; and
•
all matters of strategic or material importance.
Every Director is expected, in the course of carrying out his duties, to act in good faith and to consider at all times the interest of the
Company.
All other matters are delegated to committees whose actions will be monitored by the Board. These committees include the Audit
Committee (“AC”), the Nominating Committee (“NC”) and the Remuneration Committee (“RC”), which operate within clearly defined
terms of reference and functional procedures.
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Newly-appointed Directors will be given an orientation program with materials provided to help them familiarise themselves with the
business and organisational structure of the Group. To get a better understanding of the Group’s business, the Directors are also given
opportunities to visit the Group’s operational facilities and meet with management staff. Where necessary, the Directors will be updated
regarding new legislation and/or regulations which are relevant to the Group.
Telephone attendance at Board Meetings are allowed under Article 120(2) of the Company’s Articles of Association. The attendance of
the Directors at Board Meetings and meetings of various committees in FY2006 is as follows:Board of Directors

Name of Director

Benedict Soh Siak Poh
Simon Ong Chin Sim
Anthony Chong Siew Ling
Lee Hock Lye
Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair

Audit Committee

Nominating Committee

No. of
Meetings
Held
5
5
5
5
5

No. of
Meetings
Attended
5
5
5
5
5

No. of
Meetings
Held
4
4

No. of
Meetings
Attended
4
4

No. of
Meetings
Held
1
1
1
1

No. of
Meetings
Attended
1
1
1
1

5

5

4

4

1

1

Khoo Ho Tong

Remuneration Committee
No. of
No. of
Meetings
Meetings
Attended
Held

1
1

1
1

1

1

Board Composition and Balance
Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgement
on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or small group of individuals should be
allowed to dominate the Board’s decision-making.
Currently, the Board consists of six Directors, of whom three are considered independent by the NC. The independence of each Director
is reviewed annually by the NC. The NC adopts the Code’s definition of what constitutes an independent director in its review and the NC
is of the view that Mr Lee Hock Lye, Mr Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair and Mr Khoo Ho Tong are independent. The strong independent
element on the Board enables the Management to benefit from external diverse and objective perspective of issues raised. It also allows
for constructive exchange of ideas and views to shape the strategic policies of the Group.
The Board has examined its size and is of the view that it is an appropriate size for effective decision making, taking into account the
scope and nature of the operations of the Company. The NC is of the view that no individual or small group of individuals dominates
the Board’s decision-making process currently. The Board comprises directors who as a group provide the right core competencies and
diversity of experience to contribute effectively.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibility at the top of the Company - the working of the Board and the
executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no one
individual represents a considerable concentration of power.
The Board is of the view that it is in the best interests of the Group to adopt a single leadership structure, where the Chairman of the
Board is also the most senior executive who is responsible under the immediate authority of the Board for the conduct of the business of
the Company, so as to ensure that the decision-making process of the Group would not be unnecessarily hindered. This role has been
assumed by our Executive Chairman, Mr Benedict Soh Siak Poh.
Mr Soh, in addition to managing the day-to-day running of the Group, also ensures that each member of the Board and the Management
works well together with integrity and competence. As the Chairman of the Board, he, with the assistance of the Company Secretaries,
schedules Board meetings as and when required and prepares the agenda for Board meetings. In addition, he sets guidelines on and
ensures quality, quantity, accurateness and timeliness of information flow between the Board, Management and shareholders of the
Company. He also takes a leading role in ensuring the Company’s compliance with corporate governance guidelines. His performance
and appointment to the Board is reviewed periodically by the NC and his remuneration package is reviewed periodically by the RC.
The NC comprises a majority of the independent directors of the Company and the RC comprise only of the independent directors of
the Company. As such, the Board believes that there are adequate safeguards in place against an uneven concentration of power and
authority in a single individual.
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Board Membership
Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the Board.
The NC was formed on 8 September 2003 with the three independent Directors, Mr Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair and Mr Lee Hock
Lye, and our Group Managing Director Mr Simon Ong Chin Sim. The Chairman of the NC is Mr Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair. On 25
February 2004, two more directors were appointed to the NC namely, Mr Benedict Soh Siak Poh and Mr Khoo Ho Tong. The principal
functions of the NC in accordance with its terms of reference are as follows:•
•
•
•

to make recommendations on all Board appointment and to re-nominate existing Directors, having regard to their contribution and
performance;
to determine on an annual basis whether or not a Director is independent; and
to decide whether a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director of the Company, particularly
when the Director has multiple board representations.
ensuring that all Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals and at least once every three
years.

The year of initial appointment and last re-election of the Directors is set out below:
Name
Benedict Soh Siak Poh
Simon Ong Chin Sim
Anthony Chong Siew Ling
Khoo Ho Tong
Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair
Lee Hock Lye

Position
Executive Chairman
Group Managing Director
Executive Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director

Date of Appointment
16 December 2002
16 December 2002
12 August 2003
12 August 2003
12 August 2003
12 August 2003

Date of Last Re-election
24 April 2006
25 April 2005
26 April 2004
24 April 2006
25 April 2005
26 April 2004

When a Director has multiple board representations, the NC also considers whether or not the Director is able to and has adequately
carried out his duties as a Director of the Company.
The NC relies on personal contacts and recommendations for the right candidates, when a vacancy arises under any circumstance. In
consultation with the Board, the NC would determine the selection criteria and identify candidates with the appropriate expertise for the
position. The NC then nominates the most suitable candidate who is appointed to the Board.
Information required in respect of the academic and professional qualifications of the Directors is set out in the “Board of Directors”
section of this Annual Report. In addition, information on shareholdings in the Company held by each Director is set out in the “Report of
the Directors” section of this Annual Report.
Board Performance
Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by each
director to the effectiveness of the Board.
The NC decides on how the Board’s performance is to be evaluated and proposes objective performance criteria, subject to the Board’s
approval, which allow for comparison to industry peers and which address how the Directors have enhanced long-term shareholders’
value. It also considers the Company’s share price performance over a five-year period vis-à-vis the SSTI and a benchmark of its industry
peers.
Based on the recommendation of the NC, the Board has established an appraisal process to be carried out by the NC for assessing the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole. The performance evaluation takes into consideration a number of factors, including achievement
of financial targets, performance of the Board, performance of individual directors vis-à-vis attendance and contributions during Board
meetings, as well as other factors set out in the Code. The selected performance criteria will not change from year to year unless deemed
necessary and the Board is able to justify the changes.
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Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolution in respect of the assessment of his performance or re-nomination
as a Director.
Access to Information
Principle 6: In order to fulfill their responsibilities, board members should be provided with complete, adequate and timely
information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis.
The Company makes available to all Directors its quarterly management accounts and other financial statements, budgets and forecasts,
together with all other relevant information. Detailed board papers are sent out to the Directors before the scheduled meetings so that the
Board may better understand the issues prior to the meetings. In respect of budgets, any material variance between the projections and
the actual results is reviewed by the Board and disclosed and explained by the Management, where required by the Board.
The Directors have also been provided with the contact details of the Company’s senior management and Company Secretaries to facilitate
separate and independent access. At lease one Company Secretary is in attendance at all Board meetings. Together with Management,
the Company Secretaries are responsible for ensuring that appropriate Board procedures are followed and that the requirements of the
Companies Act, Chapter 50, and the provisions in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST are complied with. The appointments and removal
of the Company Secretaries would be a matter for the Board as a whole.
The Board is of the view that the Directors should, in furtherance of their duties, take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expense.

2.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for
fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.
The RC was formed on 8 September 2003 and comprises the three independent Directors, Mr Lee Hock Lye, Mr Prabhakaran Narayanan
Nair and Mr Khoo Ho Tong who is also the Chairman of the RC.
The role of the RC is to review and recommend to the Board, an appropriate and competitive framework of remuneration for the Board
covering all aspects of remuneration including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-inkind and key executives to ensure that such remuneration framework is competitive and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate senior
management to run the Company successfully to maximise shareholders’ value. The written terms of reference of the RC provides for a
formal and transparent procedure for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors, and no director is involved in deciding his
own remuneration. The RC members are familiar with executive compensation matters as they manage their own businesses and/or are
holding directorships in the board of other listed companies.
The RC also administers the Kingsmen Share Option Scheme (“the Scheme”). Details of the Scheme are contained in the ‘‘Report of the
Directors’’ section of this Annual Report.
Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 8: The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors needed to run the
Company successfully but companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose. A significant proportion of
the executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to linked rewards to corporate and individual performance.
In setting the remuneration packages, the RC ensures that the Directors are adequately but not excessively remunerated as compared
to the industry and comparable companies. In reviewing the remuneration packages, the RC takes into account the Company’s relative
performance and the performance of individual directors.
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Service Agreements
The Company had renewed its service agreements with Mr Benedict Soh Siak Poh and Mr Simon Ong Chin Sim. The renewal was
from 1 July 2006 for a further period of 3 years and shall, upon expiry, be automatically renewed on a three-year basis on such terms
and conditions as the parties shall agree. There are no excessive or onerous removal clauses in these service agreements. They may
be terminated by either party giving three months’ notice in writing or, in lieu of notice, payment of three months’ salary based on the
Director’s last drawn salary.
Pursuant to the terms of the respective service agreements, both Mr Benedict Soh Siak Poh and Mr Simon Ong Chin Sim are each
entitled to receive a fixed monthly salary and transport allowance and an annual variable and discretionary bonus of up to three months’
salary. In addition, they will also be paid an incentive bonus of 3% of the consolidated profit before tax of the Group.
Under the service agreements, the remuneration of Mr Benedict Soh Siak Poh and Mr Simon Ong Chin Sim is subject to review by the
RC annually. The RC shall review the terms of the service agreements before they are renewed.
Other Incentive Bonus Arrangements
Mr Anthony Chong Siew Ling, the Executive Director, is entitled to an incentive bonus of 2% and 3% of the profit before tax of Kingsmen
Environmental Graphics Pte Ltd and Kingsmen Exhibits Pte Ltd, being subsidiaries of the Company. The incentive bonus will be paid
within two weeks after the approval of the audited accounts by the board of the respective subsidiaries.
Independent Directors
All independent Directors do not have service contracts with the Company. However, a fixed fee will be paid, which is determined by the
Board, taking into account the effort, time spent and responsibilities of each independent Director. The fees are subject to approval of the
shareholders at each AGM.
Disclosure on Remuneration
Principle 9: Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and
the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s annual report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its
remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and key executives,
and performance.
The remuneration of directors and key executives are set out below:

Fees

Salary

Bonus/
Incentives

Benefits

Share
Options

Total

%

%

%

%

%

%

Simon Ong Chin Sim

11%
10%

48%
48%

39%
39%

2%
2%

-

100%
100%

$250,000 to $499,999
Anthony Chong Siew Ling

11%

39%

47%

3%

-

100%

100%
100%
100%

-

-

-

-

100%
100%
100%

Remuneration Band & Name of Directors
$500,000 to $749,999
Benedict Soh Siak Poh

Below $250,000
Lee Hock Lye
Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair
Khoo Ho Tong
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A breakdown, showing the level and mix of top five key executives in FY2006 is as follows:-

Fees
%
Remuneration of top 5 key executives (who are not directors)

Salary

Bonus/
Incentives

Benefits

%

%

Total

%

Share
Options
%

%

$250,000 to $499,999
Alex Wee Huat Seng
Francis Yee Chee Kong
Michael Ng Hung Chiao
Roy Ong Chin Kwan

4%
4%
6%
5%

37%
37%
36%
47%

56%
56%
54%
44%

4%
4%
4%
4%

-

100%
100%
100%
100%

Below $250,000
Gerald Tay Kay Sock

5%

54%

34%

7%

-

100%

*

Mr Roy Ong Chin Kwan is an immediate family member of Mr Simon Ong Chin Sim, our Group Managing Director. Save as
disclosed above, there are no other employees who are related to a director, whose remuneration exceeds S$150,000.

Details of the Kingsmen Share Option Scheme are contained in the ‘‘Report of the Directors’’ section of this Annual Report.
No options were granted to directors, executive officers or employees during FY2006.

3. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Accountability
Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects.
In line with continuous disclosure obligations of the Company and pursuant to the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and the Companies
Act, Chapter 50, the Board’s policy is that shareholders shall be informed of all major developments of the Company. Information is
communicated to shareholders on a timely basis through SGXNet and the press. The Board also provides shareholders with a detailed
and balanced explanation of the Company’s performance, position and prospects on a half-yearly basis.
The Management makes available to all Directors its quarterly management accounts and other financial statements, together with all
other relevant information of the Group’s performance, position and prospects.
Audit Committee
Principle 11: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority
and duties.
The Audit Committee (“AC”) was formed on 8 September 2003 and comprises three independent Directors, Mr Lee Hock Lye, Mr
Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair and Mr Khoo Ho Tong. Mr Lee Hock Lye is the Chairman of the AC.
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Mr Lee Hock Lye is an Associate of the Chartered Institute of Bankers, UK and a member of the Singapore Institute of Directors. He
is currently a Managing Director at HSBC Private Bank (Suisse) SA. Mr Lee graduated with a Bachelor of Social Sciences (Honours)
degree in Economics from the University of Singapore. Mr Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair is an Advocate and Solicitor of Singapore and is
currently a partner of a law firm in Singapore, Messrs Ong Tan & Nair. He has been practising law in this law firm since 1986 and obtained
his law degree from the University of Singapore. Mr Khoo Ho Tong is a partner of a public accounting firm, Messrs H.T Khoo & Company,
and has been a practicing public accountant for over 20 years. Mr Khoo is a certified Fellow Public Accountant in Singapore. The Board
is of the view that the AC has the necessary experience and expertise required to discharge its duties.
The AC has scheduled a minimum of four meetings in each financial year. The meetings shall be held, inter alia, for the following
purposes:•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

reviewing the Company’s half-year results announcements, the financial year statements of the Company and the consolidated
financial statements of the Group before their submission to the Board of Directors for approval of release of the results announcement
to the SGX-ST;
reviewing the audit plans and reports of the external auditors and to consider the effectiveness of the actions taken by Management
on the auditors’ recommendations;
reviewing the assistance and co-operation given by Management to the external auditors;
reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements and any
formal announcements relating to financial performance;
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors and approving the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor;
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function;
evaluating the adequacy of the internal control systems of the Group by reviewing written reports from the internal and external
auditors, and Management’s responses and actions to correct any deficiencies;
evaluating the adherence to the Group’s administrative, operating and internal accounting controls; and
reviewing interested person transactions, as defined in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

The AC has reviewed the volume of non-audit services provided to the Company by the external auditors, and being satisfied that the
nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors, is pleased to confirm their
re-nomination.
The AC annually reviews the independence of the external auditors.
In addition, the AC is tasked to commission investigations into matters where there is suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal
controls or infringement of any law, rule or regulation which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Company’s operating results
or financial position, and to review its findings. It also has full access to and co-operation of the Management as well as discretion to invite
any Director or key executive to attend its meetings, and reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly.
The AC will meet with the external auditors, without the presence of Management, when necessary, to review the adequacy of audit
arrangement, with emphasis on the scope and quality of their audit and the independence, objectivity and observations of the auditors.
The Company is currently considering putting in place a whistle-blowing framework, where employees of the Company may, in confidence,
raise concerns about possible corporate improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters.
Internal Controls
Principle 12: The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and the company’s assets.
The Board believes that, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the system of internal controls maintained by Management
which was in place throughout FY2006 and up to the date of this report is adequate to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the
Company’s assets, and provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material financial misstatements and losses, and
include the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial information, compliance
with appropriate legislation, regulations and best practices, and identification and containment of business risks. The Board notes that
no system of internal control could provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decisionmaking, human error, losses, fraud or other irregularities.
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The AC has reviewed the Company’s risk assessment procedures. Based on the Internal Audit reports and management controls in place,
it is satisfied that there are adequate internal controls (including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management
systems) in the Group. The AC will review the risk assessment procedures of the Company on a half-yearly basis.
Internal Audit
Principle 13: The Company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits.
The Company has established an in-house Internal Audit Function which performs financial audits, implements operational and compliance
controls, oversees risk management and audits other management processes. The Internal Audit Function reports its findings and
recommendations to the Chairman of the AC and reports administratively to the Executive Chairman. The AC reviews the adequacy of
the internal audit function at least on an annual basis.

4. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Principle 14: Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.
Principle 15: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow the shareholders the
opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.
The Board is mindful of the obligation to provide regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders. Information is communicated
to the shareholders on a timely basis. The Company does not practise selective disclosure. Price sensitive information is first publicly
released before the Company meets with any group of investors or analysts. Results and annual reports are announced or issued within
the mandatory period and will also be made available to the public on the Company’s website. The Company has an external public
relations firm to assist in all matters of communication with its investors, analysts, and media as well as to attend to their queries.
The Board welcomes the views of shareholders on matters affecting the Company, whether at shareholders’ meetings or on an ad-hoc
basis. Shareholders are informed of shareholders’ meetings through notices published in the newspapers and reports or circulars sent
to all shareholders. Each item of special business included in the notices of shareholders’ meetings is accompanied, where appropriate,
by an explanation for the proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separate issues at shareholders’
meetings. The Chairman of the Audit, Remuneration and Nominating Committees are normally available at the shareholders’ meetings
to answer those questions relating to the work of these committees. The external auditors are also present to assist the directors in
addressing any relevant queries by shareholders. The AGM is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders.
Currently, the Articles of Association of the Company allow a member of the Company to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote
in place of the member. The Company does not intend to implement absentia voting methods e.g. by mail, e-mail or fax until security,
integrity and other pertinent issues are satisfactorily resolved.

5. DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
The Company has adopted policies set out in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST on dealings in the Company’s securities.
The policies have been made known to directors, officers and staff of the Group. In particular, it has been highlighted that dealing in the
Company’s securities, when the officers (including directors and employees) are in possession of unpublished material price sensitive
information in relation to those securities, is an offence. The Company’s officers are also discouraged from dealing in the Company’s
securities on short-term considerations, and are prohibited to trade in the Company’s securities for the period of one month before the
announcement of the half-year or full-year results.

6. INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transaction with interested persons which sets out the procedures for
review and approval of such transactions.
All interested person transactions will be documented and submitted periodically to the AC for their review to ensure that such transactions
are carried out at arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the Company.
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The AC reviewed the following significant transactions entered into by the Company with its interested persons for FY2006 in accordance
with its existing procedures:-

Name of interested person

Aggregate value of all interested person
transactions during the financial year
under review (excluding transaction
less than S$100,000 and transactions
conducted under shareholders’ mandate
pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested
person transactions conducted under
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to Rule
920 (excluding transaction less than
S$100,000)

1,260,842

-

-

2,143,702
1,268,413
2,064,998

Kingsmen International Pte Ltd *
Kingsmen Fairtech Int’l (P) Ltd
Kingsmen Hong Kong Ltd
Kingsmen Middle East LLC

*

in respect of the lease of office and workshop premises

The AC confirms that these interested person transactions were entered into at arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms and
were not prejudicial to the shareholders of the Company.

7. RISK MANAGEMENT AND PROCESSES
The AC and Management assume responsibility for monitoring the Group’s risk management. The AC ensures that Management
has adequate internal controls and systems in place, and that corporate governance procedures have been taken into account by
Management in their overall review and evaluation of the Group’s business and risk management processes.
During the year, external consultants have conducted various workshops with the Group’s senior management staff to inculcate awareness
of financial, operational and business risks applicable to the operations of the Group.
In addition, all material transactions are subject to risk analysis. All necessary steps to manage risks in new projects will be taken before
they are embarked on. The Company’s Financial Controller and Internal Auditor also assist in the risk management process by identifying
and highlighting areas of concern while conducting financial/audit checks.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of Kingsmen
Creatives Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2006, and the balance sheet
as at 31 December 2006 and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2006.

Directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
Benedict Soh Siak Poh
Simon Ong Chin Sim
Anthony Chong Siew Ling
Khoo Ho Tong
Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair
Lee Hock Lye

(Executive Chairman)
(Group Managing Director)
(Executive Director)
(Independent Director)
(Independent Director)
(Independent Director)

In accordance with Articles 107 and 109 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Anthony Chong Siew Ling and Lee Hock Lye, and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as directors.

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures
Except as disclosed below, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement
whose objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures
The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’ shareholdings required
to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, interests in shares of the Company, as stated below:

Name of director

At 1.1.2006

Direct interest
At 31.12.2006

At 21.1.2007

At 1.1.2006

5,056,293
5,056,280
3,123,174
50,000
100,000

5,056,293
5,056,280
2,623,174
50,000
100,000

5,056,293
5,056,280
2,623,174
50,000
100,000

25,428,707
25,328,707
−
−
−

Deemed interest
At 31.12.2006 At 21.1.2007

The Company
Kingsmen Creatives Ltd
(Ordinary shares of $0.075 each)
Benedict Soh Siak Poh
Simon Ong Chin Sim
Anthony Chong Siew Ling
Khoo Ho Tong
Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair

25,428,707
25,328,707
−
−
−

25,428,707
25,328,707
−
−
−

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Benedict Soh Siak Poh and Simon Ong Chin Sim are deemed to have interests
in all the subsidiaries held by the Company.
Except as disclosed in this report, no other director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, share options,
warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of, or at the end of the financial year.

Directors’ contractual benefits
Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or
become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or by a related corporation with the director, or with a
firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest.
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Share options
The Kingsmen Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved by the members of the Company at an Extraordinary General
Meeting held on 11 August 2003. On 26 April 2004, the members of the Company approved the grant of incentive options at a maximum
discount not exceeding 20% of the market price under the Scheme.
Under the rules of the Scheme, all directors (including non-executive and independent directors) and employees of the Company and
its subsidiaries are eligible to participate in the Scheme. Controlling shareholders will not be eligible to participate in the Scheme. All
participants are allowed to exercise the options within the exercise period only if they remain under the employment of the Company. The
options do not carry any rights to participate in the share issues of the subsidiaries of the Company.
The Scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee, comprising 3 Board directors, all of whom are non-executive directors. The
Remuneration Committee is charged with the administration of the Scheme in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. The members
of the Remuneration Committee are:
Khoo Ho Tong (Chairman)
Lee Hock Lye
Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair
The Scheme has 2 categories of options, being the market price option and the incentive option. The exercise price for each share in
respect of which an option is exercisable shall be determined by the Remuneration Committee at its absolute discretion and fixed by the
Remuneration Committee.
The total number of shares over which options may be granted shall not exceed 15% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Unissued ordinary shares under the Scheme as at 31 December 2006 were as follows:

Date of grant
21.05.2004
31.05.2004

Exercise period

Exercise price
($)

21.05.2005 – 21.05.2009
31.05.2005 – 31.05.2009

0.25
0.21

Balance as at
1.1.2006 and
31.12.2006
200,000
3,000,000
3,200,000

The details of the outstanding share options granted to the directors and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, and participants
who received 5% or more of the total number of options available under the Scheme are as follows:

Exercise period

Exercise
price ($)

Aggregate
options
granted since
commencement
of Scheme up
to 31.12.2006

Executive director of the Company
Anthony Chong Siew Ling

31.05.2005-31.05.2009

0.21

200,000

200,000

Directors of subsidiaries
Alex Wee Huat Seng
Gerald Tay Kay Sock
Cheong Chai Keng
Goh Ting Meng
Michael Ng Hung Chiao
Ong Chin Kwan*
Yee Chee Kong

31.05.2005-31.05.2009
31.05.2005-31.05.2009
31.05.2005-31.05.2009
31.05.2005-31.05.2009
31.05.2005-31.05.2009
21.05.2005-21.05.2009
31.05.2005-31.05.2009

0.21
0.21
0.21
0.21
0.21
0.25
0.21

200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000

200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000

Name of participants

32

KINGSMEN CREATIVES • AR06

Aggregate
options
outstanding
as at
31.12.2006
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Share options (cont'd)

Name of participants
Employees
Anthony Ang Kwee Tong
Judith Low Chu Li

Exercise period

Exercise
price ($)

Aggregate
options
granted since
commencement
of Scheme up
to 31.12.2006

31.05.2005-31.05.2009
31.05.2005-31.05.2009

0.21
0.21

200,000
200,000

Aggregate
options
outstanding
as at
31.12.2006

200,000
200,000

Except as disclosed above, no other options to take up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries were granted. No other
options to take up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries were outstanding as at the end of the financial year. No shares
were issued by way of the exercise of the options during the financial year.
*

Ong Chin Kwan is the brother of Simon Ong Chin Sim, the Group Managing Director.

Audit committee
The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises 3 Board directors, all of whom are independent non-executive directors. The majority of the
members are independent. The members of the AC at the date of this report are:
Lee Hock Lye (Chairman)
Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair
Khoo Ho Tong
During the financial year, the AC held 4 meetings and carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore
Companies Act, Cap. 50, including the following:
●

Reviews the audit plans of the internal and external auditors of the Company and ensures the adequacy of the Company’s system
of accounting controls and the co-operation given by the Company’s management to the external and internal auditors;

●

Reviews the half-yearly and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report on the annual financial statements of the Company
before their submission to the Board of directors;

●

Reviews effectiveness of the Company’s material internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management via reviews carried out by the internal auditors;

●

Meets with the external auditors, other committees, and management in separate executive sessions to discuss any matters that
these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

●

Reviews legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related compliance policies and
programmes and any reports received from regulators;

●

Reviews the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

●

Recommends to the Board of directors the external auditors to be nominated, approves the compensation of the external auditors,
and reviews the scope and results of the audit;

●

Reports actions and minutes of the AC to the Board of directors with such recommendations as the AC considers appropriate;
and

●

Reviews interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Singapore Exchange Limited Listing Manual.
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Audit committee (cont'd)
The AC has full access to and co-operation by the Company’s management and has full discretion to invite any director or executive
officer to attend its meetings. The Financial Controller attends meetings of the AC. The auditors have unrestricted access to the AC.
The AC has also conducted a review of interested person transactions. The AC has reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

Auditors
Ernst & Young have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditors.

On behalf of the Board of directors,

Benedict Soh Siak Poh
Executive Chairman

Simon Ong Chin Sim
Group Managing Director

Singapore
16 March 2007
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

We, Benedict Soh Siak Poh and Simon Ong Chin Sim, being two of the directors of Kingsmen Creatives Ltd (the “Company”), do hereby
state that, in the opinion of the directors:
(i)

the accompanying consolidated profit and loss account, balance sheets, statements of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flow, together with the notes thereto, are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
of the Company as at 31 December 2006, and of the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flow of the Group, and
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended on that date; and

(ii)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of directors,

Benedict Soh Siak Poh
Executive Chairman

Simon Ong Chin Sim
Group Managing Director

Singapore
16 March 2007
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
to the members of Kingsmen Creatives Ltd

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Kingsmen Creatives Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 37 to 80, which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2006, the statements
of changes in equity of the Group and the Company, the profit and loss account and statement of cash flow of the Group for the financial
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes:
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance on whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion,
(i)

the consolidated financial statements of the Group, and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company are
properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, so as to give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2006, and the results, changes in equity
and cash flow of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended on that date; and

(ii)

the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated in
Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

ERNST & YOUNG
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
16 March 2007

36

KINGSMEN CREATIVES • AR06

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
for the financial year ended 31 December 2006

Group

Revenue
Cost of sales

Note

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

3

108,945
(81,161)

76,742
(56,201)
20,541
890
(795)
(12,073)
(5,811)
184
(65)
12

Gross profit
Other income
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Staff salaries and related expenses
Other operating expenses
Share of results of associates
Financial expenses
Financial income

14
6
7

27,784
1,456
(1,137)
(14,917)
(7,344)
256
(81)
93

Profit before taxation
Taxation

8
9

6,110
(1,426)

2,883
(519)

Profit for the financial year

4,684

2,364

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interests

4,937
(253)

2,192
172

4,684

2,364

4.88

2.17

4.88

2.17

Earnings per share (cents)
Basic

4
11
5

10

Diluted

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEETS
as at 31 December 2006

Group
Note

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill on consolidation
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in associates
Other investments

2006
$’000

Company
2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

11
12
13
14
15

4,334
1,689
−
2,334
543

3,384
1,689
–
1,866
434

125
−
8,324
1,683
543

129
–
7,994
1,471
434

16
17
18
19
20
21

2
2,088
32,086
2,021
−
6,581
6,546

2
1,992
26,186
1,600
–
1,193
5,710

−
−
774
3,878
1,134
−
41

–
–
827
1,963
1,220
–
136

49,324

36,683

5,827

4,146

648
21,674
2,837
10,074
−
635
2,013

150
17,872
1,827
6,852
–
353
691

−
445
−
289
1,397
−
490

–
309
–
379
1,188
–
114

37,881

27,745

2,621

1,990

11,443

8,938

3,206

2,156

1,046
136

591
182

−
10

–
9

19,161

15,538

13,871

12,175

10,982
−
7,538

7,582
3,400
3,726

10,982
−
2,889

7,582
3,400
1,193

Minority interests

18,520
641

14,708
830

13,871
−

12,175
–

Total equity

19,161

15,538

13,871

12,175

Current assets
Inventories
Contracts work-in-progress
Trade receivables
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Fixed deposits
Cash on hand and at bank

Current liabilities
Progress billings in excess of
contracts work-in-progress
Trade payables
Deferred income
Other payables and accruals
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Provision for taxation

17
22
23
24
20
25, 31

Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Deferred taxation

25, 31
26

Net assets
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves

27
28

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the financial year ended 31 December 2006

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share
Share
Revenue
Other
capital
premium
reserves
reserves
Total
(Note 27)
(Note 28)
(Note 29)
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

Group

Minority
interests

Total
equity

$’000

$’000

2006
As at 1 January 2006
Transfer of share premium reserve
to issued share capital account
Profit/(loss) for the financial year
Net effect of exchange differences
(Note 29 (a))
Dividends paid (Note 30)
Dividends paid to minority interests
Capital contribution by minority
interests

7,582

3,400

3,523

203

14,708

830

15,538

3,400
−

(3,400)
−

−
4,937

−
−

−
4,937

−
(253)

−
4,684

(114)
(1,011)
−

(54)
−
(36)

(168)
(1,011)
(36)

−
−
−

−
−
−

−

−

−

−

−

154

154

10,982

−

7,449

89

18,520

641

19,161

7,582

3,400

2,192

(66)

13,108

685

13,793

−

−

153

−

−

−

As at 31 December 2004, as restated
Profit for the financial year
Net effect of exchange differences
(Note 29 (a))
Fair value of share options granted
(Note 29 (b))
Dividends paid (Note 30)
Dividends paid to minority interests
Capital contribution by minority
interests

7,582
−

3,400
−

2,039
2,192

87
−

13,108
2,192

685
172

13,793
2,364

−

−

−

15

15

5

20

−
−
−

−
−
−

101
−
−

101
(708)
−

−
−
(62)

101
(708)
(62)

−

−

−

−

−

30

30

As at 31 December 2005

7,582

3,400

3,523

203

14,708

830

15,538

As at 31 December 2006

−
(1,011)
−

(114)
−
−

2005
As at 31 December 2004, as
previously reported
Cumulative effects of adopting
FRS 102

(153)

−
(708)
−

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the financial year ended 31 December 2006 (cont’d)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share
Share
Revenue
Other
Total
capital
premium
reserves
reserves
equity
(Note 27)
(Note 28)
(Note 29)
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

Company

2006
As at 1 January 2006
Transfer of share premium reserve to issued
share capital account
Profit for the financial year
Dividends paid (Note 30)
As at 31 December 2006

7,582

3,400

3,400
−
−

(3,400)
−
−

10,982

−

As at 31 December 2004, as previously reported
Cumulative effects of adopting FRS 102

7,582
−

3,400
−

As at 31 December 2004, as restated
Profit for the financial year
Fair value of share options granted (Note 29 (b))
Dividends paid (Note 30)

7,582
−
−
−

As at 31 December 2005

7,582

939
−
2,707
(1,011)
2,635

254
−
−
−

12,175
−
2,707
(1,011)

254

13,871

721
(153)

−
153

11,703
−

3,400
−
−
−

568
1,079
−
(708)

153
−
101
−

11,703
1,079
101
(708)

3,400

939

254

12,175

2005

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
for the financial year ended 31 December 2006

Group
2006
$’000
Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment written off
Bad debts recovered (trade)
Bad debts written off (trade)
Allowance for doubtful debts (trade)
Write-back of allowance for doubtful debts (trade)
Interest income
Interest expense
Share of results of associates
Currency realignment

6,110

2005
$’000

2,883

1,137
7
57
(4)
159
1,142
(49)
(93)
81
(256)
2

795
(55)
8
(22)
21
436
(2)
(12)
65
(184)
34

8,293
402
(7,569)
8,034

3,967
(2,007)
(5,134)
9,199

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Interest received
Tax paid

9,160
(81)
93
(150)

6,025
(65)
12
(331)

Net cash generated from operating activities

9,022

5,641

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Acquisitions of associates
Acquisitions of other investments

(1,172)
14
(212)
(109)

(1,422)
172
–
(53)

Net cash used in investing activities

(1,479)

(1,303)

Cash flow from financing activities
(Increase)/decrease in amount pledged to banks for overdraft facilities
Dividends paid to equity holders of the Company
Dividends paid to minority shareholders of the subsidiaries
Repayment of finance lease obligations
Repayment of long-term bank borrowings (net)

(2)
(1,011)
(36)
(206)
(38)

56
(708)
(62)
(89)
(6)

Net cash used in financing activities

(1,293)

(809)

Operating profit before working capital changes
Decrease/(increase) in contracts work-in-progress (net)
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year (Note A)

6,250
6,629

3,529
3,100

12,879

6,629

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
for the financial year ended 31 December 2006 (cont’d)

Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

Note A: Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flow comprise the following:

2006
$’000
Cash on hand and at bank
Fixed deposits (Note 21)
Bank overdrafts (Note 25)

2005
$’000

6,546
6,581
(103)

5,710
1,193
(131)

Amount pledged to banks for overdraft facilities

13,024
(145)

6,772
(143)

Cash and cash equivalents

12,879

6,629

Fixed deposits of $145,000 (2005: $143,000) are pledged to the banks for overdraft facilities granted to certain subsidiaries (Note 25).

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2006

1.

Corporate information
Kingsmen Creatives Ltd (the “Company”) is a limited liability company, which is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and
publicly traded on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located
at Kingsmen Creative Centre, 3 Changi South Lane, Singapore 486118.
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding, and the provision of corporate marketing and other related
services. There have been no significant changes in the nature of this activity during the financial year.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements. There have been no significant
changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
2.1

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group, and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (S$) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000)
except where otherwise indicated.
The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and the Company and are consistent with those used
in the previous financial year, except for the changes in the accounting policies discussed below.

2.2

Changes in accounting policies
(a)

Adoption of revised FRS
During the financial year, the Group and the Company adopted the following revised FRS which is relevant to its
operations.
Amendments to FRS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Financial Guarantee
Contracts
The Amendments to FRS 39 which took effect from financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2006, require the
Group and the Company to measure the financial guarantees given to banks for bank borrowings of the subsidiaries
at fair value upon inception of the guarantees. These guarantees are subsequently measured at the higher of their
initial fair values less cumulative amortisation and the amount that would be recognised if they were accounted for as
contingent liabilities. Previously, these financial guarantees were accounted for as contingent liabilities whereby a loss
was recognised only if it was probable that it would be incurred.
The adoption of the Amendments to FRS 39 is assessed to have no material financial impact on the results and the
revenue reserves of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2006.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2006

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)
2.2

Changes in accounting policies (cont'd)
(b)

FRS and Interpretations of Financial Reporting Standards (“INT FRS”) that are not yet effective
The Group and the Company have not applied the following FRS and INT FRS that have been issued but not yet
effective:
Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on or after)
FRS 1 :
FRS 107 :
FRS 108 :
INT FRS 108 :
INT FRS 110 :
INT FRS 111 :

Amendment to FRS 1 (revised),
Presentation of Financial Statements (Capital Disclosures)
Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Operating Segments
Scope of FRS 102, Share-based Payment
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
Group and Treasury Share Transactions

1 January 2007
1 January 2007
1 January 2009
1 May 2006
1 November 2006
1 March 2007

The directors expect that the adoption of the above pronouncements will have no material impact to the financial
statements of the Group and the Company in the period of initial application, except for the Amendment to FRS 1, FRS
107 and FRS 108 as indicated below.
FRS 107, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and Amendment to FRS 1 (revised), Presentation of Financial
Statements (Capital Disclosures)
FRS 107 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments. It requires the disclosure
of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including specified
minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including sensitivity analysis to market risk. The
Amendment to FRS 1 requires the Group to make new disclosures to enable users of the financial statements to
evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. The Group will apply FRS 107 and the
Amendment to FRS 1 from annual periods beginning 1 January 2007.
FRS 108, Operating Segments
FRS 108 requires an entity to adopt a “management perspective approach” in reporting financial and descriptive
information about its reportable segment. Financial information is required to be reported on the basis that it is used
internally for evaluating operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.
FRS 108 introduces additional segmental disclosures to be made to improve the information about operating segments.
The Group will apply FRS 108 from annual periods beginning 1 January 2009.
2.3

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the financial statements. They
affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)
2.3

Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont'd)
(a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below:
Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit, and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of the Group’s
goodwill on consolidation as at 31 December 2006 was $1,689,000 (2005: $1,689,000).
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
The costs of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Management estimates the useful lives of these assets to be within 3 to 50 years. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
and the Company’s property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2006 were $4,334,000 (2005 : $3,384,000) and
$125,000 (2005 : $129,000) respectively. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could
impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be
revised.
Income taxes
The Group has exposures to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in determining the
Group’s and the Company’s provision for income taxes. The Group and the Company recognise liabilities for expected
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s
provision for taxation as at 31 December 2006 were $2,013,000 (2005: $691,000) and $490,000 (2005: $114,000)
respectively. The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s deferred taxation as at 31 December 2006 were
$136,000 (2005 : $182,000) and $10,000 (2005 : $9,000) respectively.

(b)

Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements made by management in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements.
Construction contracts
The Group recognises contract revenue to the extent of contract costs incurred where it is probable that those costs will
be recoverable or based on the stage of completion method. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the
contract costs incurred to-date to the estimated total costs for the contract.
Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the contract costs incurred, the
estimated total contract revenue and contract costs, as well as the recoverability of the contracts. Total contract revenue
also includes an estimation of the variation works that are recoverable from the customers. In making the judgement,
the Group evaluates by relying on past experience and the work of specialists.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)
2.3

Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont'd)
(b)

Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies (cont'd)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when there are indicators of
impairment. As at 31 December 2006, there are no indications of impairment and the carrying amounts of the Group’s
and the Company’s property, plant and equipment were $4,334,000 (2005: $3,384,000) and $125,000 (2005: $129,000)
respectively.

2.4

Functional and foreign currencies
(a)

Functional currency
Management has determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group and the Company
operate i.e. functional currency, to be S$. Sales prices and major costs of providing services, including major operating
expenses, are primarily influenced by fluctuations in S$.

(b)

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its
subsidiaries, and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the balance sheet
date are recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account except for exchange differences arising on monetary
items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries, which are recognised initially in a separate
component of equity as foreign currency translation reserve in the consolidated balance sheet and recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account on disposal of the subsidiary.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, such exchange differences are recognised in the profit and loss
account.

(c)

Foreign currency translations
The results and financial positions of foreign operations are translated into S$ using the following procedures:
•

Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the balance
sheet date; and

•

Income and expenses for each profit and loss account are translated at average exchange rates for the financial
year, which approximate the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in a separate component of equity as foreign currency translation
reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange differences deferred in equity relating to that
foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account as a component of the gain or loss on
disposal.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)
2.5

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the balance
sheet date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of consolidated financial statements are
prepared for the same reporting date as the holding company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions
and events in similar circumstances.
All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses, and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus
costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority
interest.
Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities represents goodwill on consolidation. Goodwill is accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policy for goodwill stated in Note 2.10 to the financial statements.
Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of business combination is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account on the date of acquisition.
Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group. They are
presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately from the parent shareholders’ equity, and are separately
disclosed in the consolidated profit and loss account.

2.6

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can
be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised.
(a)

Contract revenue
When the contract outcome can be reliably measured :
Revenue is recognised by reference to the percentage of completion method. Percentage of completion is measured
by reference to the percentage of costs incurred to-date to the total estimated costs for each contract. Changes in job
performance, job conditions and estimated profitability, including those arising from final contract settlements, may
result in revisions to revenue and costs, and are recognised in the period in which the revisions are determined.
Where the contract outcome cannot be reliably measured :
Revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised, which are recoverable.
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately. When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)
2.6

Revenue recognition (cont'd)
(b)

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised upon the transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods to the customer
which generally coincides with delivery and acceptance of the goods sold.

(c)

Subcontract income, administrative income and corporate fee income
Revenue is recognised when the services are rendered.

(d)

Rental Income
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms on ongoing leases. The aggregrate cost
of incentives provided to lessees is recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease terms on a straight-line
basis.

(e)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest rate method) unless collectibility is in
doubt.

2.7

Employee benefits
(a)

Defined contribution plans
As required by law, the Group makes contributions to the state pension schemes, the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”)
or equivalent. CPF contributions or equivalents are recognised as an expense in the same period in which the related
services are performed.

(b)

Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

(c)

Employee share option plans
The directors of the Company (including non-executive and independent directors) and employees of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share options as consideration for services rendered (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which the share options
are granted. In valuing the share options, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions
linked to the price of the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in the share option reserve,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant
employees become fully entitled to the award (“the vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
consolidated profit and loss account for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a
market condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance conditions are satisfied. The share option reserve is transferred to the revenue reserves upon
expiry of the options.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)
2.8

Property, plant and equipment
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition
for its intended use, and includes the costs of dismantlement, removal or restoration, the obligation for which the Group
and the Company incur as a consequence of installing the asset. Expenditure for additions, improvements and renewals
are capitalised and expenditure for maintenance and repairs are charged to the consolidated profit and loss account. When
assets are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the financial statements and any gain
or loss resulting from their disposal is included in the consolidated profit and loss account.
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

2.9

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment begins when it is available for use and is calculated on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:
Leasehold building
Machinery and exhibition equipment
Office equipment and computers
Motor vehicles, furniture and fittings, and renovations

-

2%
15% - 36%
15% - 20%
15%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure that the amount,
method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the
future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the consolidated profit and loss
account in the year when the asset is derecognised.
Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use and no
further charge for depreciation is made in respect of these assets.
2.10 Goodwill on consolidation
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following
initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment,
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated:
•

represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes;
and

•

is not larger than a segment based on either the Group’s primary or secondary reporting format.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)
2.10 Goodwill on consolidation (cont’d)
A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the unit,
including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the unit. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
2.11 Investments in subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. The Group generally has such power when it directly or indirectly, holds more than 50% of the
issued share capital, or controls more than 50% of the voting power, or controls the composition of the Board of directors.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.
2.12 Investments in associates
An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a joint venture, in which the Group has significant influence. This generally
coincides with the Group having 20% or more of the voting power, or has representation on the Board of directors.
The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, the investment
in associate is carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the
associate. The Group’s share of the profit or loss of the associate is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.
Where there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of such
changes. After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment
loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in the associate. The associate is equity accounted for from the date the Group
obtains significant influence until the date the Group ceases to have significant influence over the associate.
Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of the investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and is instead included as income in
the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate.
The most recent available audited financial statements and unaudited management financial statements of the associates are
used by the Group in applying the equity method. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events
in similar circumstances.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.13 Financial assets
Financial assets within the scope of FRS 39 are classified as either loans and receivables, or available-for-sale financial
assets, as appropriate. Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheets when, and only when, the Group and the
Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, directly attributable transaction costs. The
Group and the Company determine the classification of their financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluate this designation at each financial year-end.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date i.e. the date that the Group and
the Company commit to purchase the asset.
(a)

Loans and receivables
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified
as loans and receivables. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and
losses are recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account when the loans and receivables are derecognised or
impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
The Group and the Company classify the following financial assets as loans and receivables:

(b)

•

trade and other receivables, including amounts due from subsidiaries, associates and related parties; and

•

fixed deposits, and cash on hand and at bank.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Unquoted equity investments classified as available-for-sale financial assets are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, as they do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured.
The Group and the Company have not classified any financial assets as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and held-to-maturity.

2.14 Impairment of assets
The Group and the Company assess at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that an asset or a
group of assets is impaired.
(a)

Impairment of financial assets
(i)

Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flow discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed.
Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account, to the
extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.14 Impairment of assets (cont'd)
(a)

Impairment of financial assets (cont'd)
(ii)

Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial asset carried at cost has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flow discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.

(b)

Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the Group and the Company
make an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its
value-in-use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent from other assets or groups of assets. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses recognised for an asset other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment
loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That
increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
The Group and the Company do not reverse, in a subsequent period, any impairment loss previously recognised for
other investments.

2.15 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
(a)

Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised where:
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•

The contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

•

The Group and the Company retain the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but have assumed
an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; or

•

The Group and the Company have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a)
have transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) have neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but have transferred control of the asset.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.15 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (cont'd)
(a)

Financial assets (cont'd)
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of (a) the
consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed), and (b) any cumulative gain
or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

(b)

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

2.16 Inventories
Inventories consist of materials for electrical wiring and installation. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and includes the cost of purchases and all incidental costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
Allowance is made for damaged, obsolete and slow-moving inventories.
2.17 Contracts work-in-progress
Contracts work-in-progress is valued at cost plus attributable profits less progress billings and provision for foreseeable
losses. Cost comprises direct materials and labour costs. Provision is made for all losses expected to arise on completion of
contracts entered into at the balance sheet date.
2.18 Receivables
An allowance is made for uncollectible amounts when there is objective evidence that the Group and the Company will not be
able to collect the debts. Bad debts are written off when identified.
2.19 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank, and short-term fixed deposits.
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents are shown as net of fixed deposits
pledged with the banks and outstanding bank overdrafts, which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
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2.20 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include trade payables, which are normally settled on 30 to 60 day terms, other payables, amounts due to
subsidiaries, associates and related parties, and interest-bearing loans and borrowings. Financial liabilities are recognised
on the balance sheets when, and only when, the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of
the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration received less directly
attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the amortisation process. The liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expired.
2.21 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.
2.22 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable
transaction costs.
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.
Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as
through the amortisation process.
2.23 Leases
(a)

As lessee
Finance leases
Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. Lease
payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability, so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to the consolidated profit and loss
account. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term,
if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.
Operating leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated profit and loss account on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of
rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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2.23 Leases (cont'd)
(b)

As lessor
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as
operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income.

2.24 Income taxes
(a)

Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

(b)

Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•

Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

•

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:
•

Where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred
tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.
Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.24 Income taxes (cont’d)
(c)

Sales tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:
•

Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in
which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item
as applicable; and

•

Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or
payables in the balance sheets.
2.25 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities
to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred.
Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are ready for their intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the asset
exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded.
2.26 Related parties
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be
related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate
entities.
2.27 Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing services/products, or in providing such
services/products within a particular economic environment, which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those
of other segments.
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments. The primary format,
business segments, is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.
Inter-segment pricing, if any, is determined on an arm's length basis.

3.

Revenue
Group

Contract revenue
Sale of goods
Subcontract income
Rental of equipment
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2006
$’000

2005
$’000

106,093
1,237
1,061
554

73,873
1,677
944
248

108,945

76,742

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2006

4.

Other income
Group
2006
$’000
Other income comprises:
Administrative income
Corporate fee income
Rental income
Miscellaneous income

5.

2005
$’000

20
554
770
112

12
473
351
54

1,456

890

13,393
1,057
−
56
411

10,720
912
101
30
310

14,917

12,073

Staff salaries and related expenses
Salaries and employee benefits (including directors’ remuneration) comprise:
Salaries, wages and bonuses
Contributions to defined contribution plans
Share option plans (Note a)
Provision for unutilised leave
Other employee benefits

(a)

Share option plans
The share option plans was approved by the members of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 11
August 2003 to enable all directors (including non-executive and independent directors) and employees of the Group to
participate in the share option plan.
The details of the share options granted are as follows :Date of grant
21.5.2004
31.5.2004

Exercise period

Exercise price ($)

No. of shares granted

21.5.2005 – 21.5.2009
31.5.2005 – 31.5.2009

0.25
0.21

200,000
3,000,000
3,200,000

There were no options granted in both financial years. The number of options outstanding as at 31 December 2006 and 2005
was 3,200,000 shares.
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6.

Financial expenses
Group
2006
$’000
Financial expenses comprise:
Interest expense on:
- finance lease obligations
- bank term loans
- bank overdrafts
- related parties

7.

50
20
11
−

17
27
8
13

81

65

(76)
(17)

(10)
(2)

(93)

(12)

275
100

290
105

1,549
2,648

1,066
1,885

114
22
(4)
159
1,142
(49)
57
7
2,018
192

113
19
(22)
21
436
(2)
8
(55)
1,510
(34)

Financial income
Financial income comprises:
Interest income on:
- fixed deposits
- related parties

8.

2005
$’000

Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:
Directors’ fees:
- Directors of the Company
- Directors of the subsidiaries
Directors’ remuneration (Note 34):
- Directors of the Company
- Directors of the subsidiaries
Auditors’ remuneration:
- Auditors of the Company
- Other auditors of the subsidiaries
Bad debts recovered (trade)
Bad debts written off (trade) (Note 18)
Allowance for doubtful debts (trade)
Write-back of allowance for doubtful debts (trade)
Property, plant and equipment written off
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Operating lease expenses
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain)
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9.

Taxation
The charge for taxation is made up as follows:
Group
2006
$’000

2005
$’000

Current taxation
Current year
Under/(over) provision in respect of previous years

1,451
21

514
(44)

Deferred tax (credit)/charge (Note 26)

1,472
(46)

470
49

1,426

519

A reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the Group’s effective tax rate applicable to the profit before taxation for the financial years
ended 31 December was as follows:
Group
2006
%

2005
%

Domestic statutory tax rate
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Benefits from temporary differences not recognised
Utilisation of tax losses brought forward
Tax effect of exempt income
Under/(over) provision in respect of previous years
Differences in tax rates of overseas subsidiaries
Share of results of associates
Others

20.0
3.4
0.2
−
(1.0)
0.3
0.2
(1.1)
1.3

20.0
3.4
−
(0.4)
(2.9)
(1.5)
(0.5)
(1.3)
1.2

Effective tax rate

23.3

18.0

In 2005, the Group had utilised tax losses brought forward of $58,000 to set off the profit. The utilisation of tax losses was subject
to compliance with the relevant rules and procedures and agreement of tax authorities of the respective countries in which the
companies operate.

10.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the financial year of
$4,937,000 (2005: $2,192,000) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 101,094,000 (2005: 101,094,000) of $0.075
(2005 : $0.075) each in issue during the financial year.
Group

Weighted average number of issued ordinary shares at beginning and end of financial year

2006
’000

2005
’000

101,094

101,094
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10.

Earnings per share (cont'd)
Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the financial
year of $4,937,000 (2005: $2,192,000) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the
weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares of 101,094,000 (2005: 101,094,000) of $0.075 (2005 : $0.075) each in issue during the financial year.
The number of unissued shares and their exercise prices under options granted under the Kingsmen Share Option Scheme are set
out in Note 5 to the financial statements.
As the exercise prices of the options are higher than their market values during the financial year, there is no adjustment to the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding arising from dilutive ordinary shares.

11.

Property, plant and equipment

Group
At cost
At 1 January 2005
Additions
Disposals/write-offs
Translation differences

Office
equipment
and
computers
$’000

Motor
vehicles
$’000

Furniture
and
fittings Renovations
$’000
$000

Total
$’000

230
−
−
5

1,767
767
(348)
−

1,447
712
(117)
6

524
75
(204)
5

493
116
(47)
7

96
268
(6)
1

4,557
1,938
(722)
24

At 31 December 2005 and
1 January 2006
Additions
Disposals/write-offs
Translation differences

235
−
−
(3)

2,186
1,459
(241)
(3)

2,048
480
(513)
(15)

400
123
(23)
(4)

569
12
(124)
(3)

359
107
(22)
−

5,797
2,181
(923)
(28)

At 31 December 2006

232

3,401

2,000

496

454

444

7,027

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2005
Charge for the financial year
Disposals/write-offs
Translation differences

60

Leasehold
building
$’000

Machinery
and
exhibition
equipment
$’000

47
2
−
1

852
307
(308)
−

819
298
(100)
3

251
71
(164)
3

207
55
(19)
1

31
62
(6)
−

2,207
795
(597)
8

At 31 December 2005 and
1 January 2006
Charge for the financial year
Disposals/write-offs
Translation differences

50
2
−
(1)

851
598
(199)
(2)

1,020
339
(493)
(7)

161
77
(10)
−

244
53
(121)
−

87
68
(22)
(2)

2,413
1,137
(845)
(12)

At 31 December 2006

51

1,248

859

228

176

131

2,693

Net book value
At 31 December 2006

181

2,153

1,141

268

278

313

4,334

At 31 December 2005

185

1,335

1,028

239

325

272

3,384
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11.

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
During the financial year, the Group acquired plant and equipment with an aggregate fair value of $1,009,000 (2005: $516,000)
by means of finance leases. As at 31 December 2006, the net book value of plant and equipment held under finance leases was
$1,560,000 (2005: $629,000). These leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities.
In addition to assets held under finance leases, the leasehold building of the subsidiary in Malaysia, with a net book value of
$181,000 (2005: $185,000) is pledged to banks as security for banking facilities granted (Note 25).

Company
At cost
At 1 January 2005
Additions

Office
equipment
and
computers
$’000

Motor
vehicles
$’000

Renovations
$’000

Total
$’000

174
54

6
−

−
−

180
54

At 31 December 2005 and 1 January 2006
Additions
Write-offs

228
39
(10)

6
−
−

−
12
−

234
51
(10)

At 31 December 2006

257

6

12

275

60
43

1
1

−
−

61
44

At 31 December 2005 and 1 January 2006
Charge for the financial year
Write-offs

103
50
(8)

2
1
−

−
2
−

105
53
(8)

At 31 December 2006

145

3

2

150

Net book value
At 31 December 2006

112

3

10

125

At 31 December 2005

125

4

−

129

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2005
Charge for the financial year

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when there are indicators of impairment. The
assessment has led to management’s conclusion that no impairment loss is required to be recognised.

12.

Goodwill on consolidation
Group
2006
$’000
Goodwill on consolidation

1,689

2005
$’000
1,689
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12.

Goodwill on consolidation (cont'd)
Impairment testing of goodwill on consolidation
Goodwill on consolidation has been allocated to 2 individual cash-generating units, which are reportable segments, for impairment
testing as follows:
•
•

Exhibitions and museums segment; and
Interiors segment.

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units is as follows:
Exhibitions and
museums
segment
2006
2005
$’000
$’000
Carrying amount of goodwill

1,410

1,410

Interiors
segment
2006
2005
$’000
$’000
279

Total
2006
$’000

279

1,689

2005
$’000
1,689

To assess impairment of goodwill on consolidation, the Group estimated the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
each cash-generating unit, based on the financial budgets approved by management covering a 3-year period. The pre-tax discount
rate applied to the cash flows projections was 5.5% (2005: 5.5%) per annum, being the cost of financing for the Group. The annual
growth rate used for the 3-year period was an average of 3% (2005: 3%). The assessment had led to management’s conclusion that
no impairment loss is required to be recognised.

13.

Investments in subsidiaries
Company
2006
$’000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost

2005
$’000

8,324

7,994

Details of subsidiaries as at 31 December are as follows:

Name of Company
(Country of incorporation
and business)

Principal activities

Percentage
of equity held
by the
Company
2006
2005
%
%

Cost of
investment held
by the Company
2006
2005
$’000
$’000

At cost

62

Kingsmen Exhibits Pte Ltd *
(Singapore)

Advertising contractors and agents;
design and production of exhibitions,
decorations and museums

100

100

1,562

1,562

Kingsmen Projects Pte Ltd *
(Singapore)

Design and production of architectural
interiors, decorations and museums

100

100

2,121

2,121

Kingsmen Design Pte Ltd *
(Singapore)

Design consultancy, and planning
management

100

100

839

839
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13.

Investments in subsidiaries (cont'd)
Percentage
of equity held
by the Company
2006
2005
%
%

Cost of
investment held
by the Company
2006
2005
$’000
$’000

Name of Company
(Country of incorporation
and business)

Principal activities

Kingsmen Ooh-media Pte Ltd *
(Singapore)

Advertising services, consultancy event
management and marketing communication

70

70

140

70

Hi-Light Electrical Pte Ltd *
(Singapore)

Electrical engineering

80

80

301

301

I-Promo Events & Marketing
Pte Ltd *
(Singapore)

Interactive promotion services

70

70

171

171

Kingsmen Indochina Pte Ltd *
(Singapore)

Design and production of architectural
interiors, decorations and museums

90

90

2,158

2,158

Kingsmen Sdn Bhd **
(Malaysia)

Design and production of interiors,
exhibitions, decorations and museums

71

71

797

525

PT Kingsmen Indonesia ^
(Indonesia)

Design and production of interiors,
exhibitions, decorations and museums

95

100

235

247

8,324

7,994

Name of Company
(Country of incorporation
and business)

Principal activities

Percentage
of equity held
by the Group
2006
2005
%
%

At cost
Subsidiary owned by Kingsmen Exhibits Pte Ltd
Kingsmen Environmental
Graphic design and productions
Graphics Pte Ltd *
(Singapore)

80

80

Subsidiary owned by Kingsmen Projects Pte Ltd
K-Fix Production Sdn. Bhd. @
Manufacturer, wholesale and trader of interior and
(Malaysia)
exhibition furniture, fixtures and displays

100

−

Subsidiary owned by Kingsmen Indochina Pte Ltd
Kingsmen Vietnam Co., Ltd ***
Design and production of interiors, exhibitions,
(Vietnam)
decorations and museums

100

100

100

100

100

100

Subsidiaries owned by Kingsmen Sdn Bhd
Keb Designers & Producers
Design and production of interiors, exhibitions,
Sdn Bhd **
decorations and museums
(Malaysia)
Kingsmen-Keb Systems
Sdn Bhd **
(Malaysia)

Design and production of interiors, exhibitions,
decorations and museums
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13.

Investments in subsidiaries (cont'd)

Name of Company
(Country of incorporation
and business)

Percentage
of equity held
by the Group
2006
2005
%
%

Principal activities

Subsidiaries owned by Kingsmen Sdn Bhd (cont'd)
Kingsmen Environmental
Design and production of interiors, exhibitions,
Graphics Sdn Bhd **
decorations and museums
(Malaysia)
*
**
***
^
@

14.

80

80

Audited by Ernst & Young, Singapore.
Audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia.
Audited by Auditing and Consulting Joint Stock Company, Vietnam.
Not required to be audited by law in its country of incorporation.
The subsidiary was incorporated on 15 March 2006 with an issued and paid-up share capital of RM 10,000 (S$4,000). The
subsidiary is audited by Haniff Lee & Co. Chartered Accountants, Malaysia.

Investments in associates
Group
2006
$’000

Company
2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost
Share of post-acquisition reserves

1,683
651

1,471
395

1,683
−

1,471
−

Carrying amount of associates

2,334

1,866

1,683

1,471

Investments in associates include goodwill on acquisition as follows:
Group
2006
$’000
Goodwill on acquisition
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14.

Investments in associates (cont'd)
Details of associates as at 31 December are as follows:

Name of Company
(Country of incorporation
and business)

Principal activities

Percentage
of equity held
by the Group
2006
2005
%
%

Cost of
investment
2006
2005
$’000
$’000

At cost
Ascend Computer Rental
Pte Ltd #
(Singapore)

Renting and selling
audio-visual, computer and
peripheral equipment

40

40

367

367

Kingsmen Korea Limited ##
(Korea)

Design and production of architectural
interiors, decorations and museums

30

25

753

541

Kingsmen Nikko Limited ##
(Japan)

Advertising contractors and agents;
design and production of exhibitions,
decorations and museums

30

30

563

563

1,683

1,471

#
##

Audited by C Y Ng & Company, Singapore.
Not required to be audited by law in its country of incorporation.

The summarised financial information of the associates are as follows:
Group
2006
$’000

2005
$’000

Assets and liabilities:
Current assets
Non-current assets

7,441
4,900

7,990
2,711

12,341

10,701

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

8,228
75

6,993
125

Total liabilities

8,303

7,118

27,613

29,344

814

612

Total assets

Results:
Revenue
Profit for the financial year
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15.

Other investments
Group and Company
2006
2005
$’000
$’000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost
Allowance for impairment loss
Carrying amounts

643
(100)

534
(100)

543

434

At the end of the financial year, the Group and the Company assess the potential impairment in other investments by comparing the
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return. No additional
allowance for impairment on other investments is necessary based on this assessment.

16.

Inventories
Group
2006
$’000
Finished goods :
At net realisable value

Inventories are stated after deducting allowance for obsolescence of

17.

2005
$’000

2

2

32

32

Contracts work-in-progress/progress billings in excess of contracts work-in-progress
Contracts work-in-progress in excess of progress billings :
Contract costs incurred to-date
Attributable profits
Progress billings received and receivable

3,430
239
(1,581)

6,265
377
(4,650)

2,088

1,992

Progress billings in excess of contracts work-in-progress :
Contract costs incurred to-date
Attributable profits
Progress billings received and receivable
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6
(765)

320
33
(503)

(648)

(150)
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18.

Trade receivables
Group

Company

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

External parties
Related parties (1)
Associates (1)

30,254
3,599
332

25,635
1,211
621

28
591
155

17
504
306

Total trade receivables
Allowance for doubtful debts (2)

34,185
(2,099)

27,467
(1,281)

774
−

827
–

Carrying amounts of trade receivables

32,086

26,186

774

827

159

21

−

–

Bad debts written off (Note 8)

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

(1)

The amounts due from related parties and associates are trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable within
normal trade terms. These amounts arose from normal trading activities of the Group.

(2)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2006, an allowance for doubtful debts and bad debts written off of $1,142,000
(2005: $436,000) and $159,000 (2005: $21,000) were recognised respectively in the consolidated profit and loss account,
subsequent to a debt recovery assessment performed on the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 December 2006.

(3)

As at 31 December 2006, the following amounts are included in trade receivables of the Group:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.

$4,035,000 (2005: $499,000) of retention sums relating to projects;
$2,692,000 (2005: $2,605,000) denominated in United States dollars;
$3,096,000 (2005: $3,937,000) denominated in Malaysian Ringgit;
$758,000 (2005: $321,000) denominated in Indonesian Rupiah;
$882,000 (2005: $850,000) denominated in Vietnam Dong; and
$564,000 (2005 : Nil) denominated in Australian dollars.

Included in the Company’s trade receivables as at 31 December 2006 are as follows :a.
b.

19.

$208,000 (2005 : $180,000) denominated in United States dollars; and
$43,000 (2005 : $20,000) denominated in Malaysian Ringgit.

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments
Other receivables (1)
Staff advances (2)
Deposits
Prepayments
Tax recoverable
Dividends receivable

274
120
403
142
1,082
−

424
144
356
251
425
–

−
5
−
17
846
3,010

–
13
–
56
379
1,515

2,021

1,600

3,878

1,963
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19.

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (cont'd)
(1)

In 2005, included in other receivables of the Group were amounts due from related parties and associates of $375,000 and
$38,000 respectively. These amounts arose mainly from corporate fee income earned and were unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. These balances were fully settled in 2006.

(2)

Staff advances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable within the next 12 months.

(3)

As at 31 December 2006, the following amounts are included in other receivables, deposits and prepayments of the Group:
a.
b.
c.

$322,000 (2005 : $230,000) denominated in Malaysian Ringgit;
$193,000 (2005 : $300,000) denominated in Indonesian Rupiah; and
$102,000 (2005 : $160,000) denominated in Vietnam Dong.

All the Company’s other receivables, deposits and prepayments as at 31 December 2006 and 2005 are denominated in
Singapore dollars.

20.

Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries
Company
The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are non-trade in nature, unsecured, bear interest at 5% (2005: 5%) per annum and are
repayable on demand. These balances relate to advances made to/received from subsidiaries for working capital purposes.
The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are denominated in Singapore dollars.

21.

Fixed deposits
Group
The fixed deposits bear an average effective interest rate of 3.10% (2005: 3.00%) per annum, and have maturity periods ranging
from 1 week to 6 months (2005: 1 week to 6 months).
As at 31 December 2006, the following amounts are included in the fixed deposits:
a.
b.

22.

$145,000 (2005 : $143,000) denominated in Malaysian Ringgit; and
$68,000 (2005 : Nil) denominated in Indonesian Rupiah.

Trade payables
Group

68

Company

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

External parties
Related parties (1)
Associates (1)

20,234
883
557

15,945
1,383
544

183
262
−

86
223
–

Total trade payables (2)

21,674

17,872

445

309
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22.

Trade payables (cont'd)
(1)

The amounts due to related parties and associates are trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable within normal
trade terms. These amounts arose from normal trading activities of the Group.

(2)

As at 31 December 2006, the following amounts are included in trade payables for the Group:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

$814,000 (2005: $981,000) denominated in United States dollars;
$2,213,000 (2005: $1,935,000) denominated in Malaysian Ringgit;
$835,000 (2005: $465,000) denominated in Indonesian Rupiah;
$265,000 (2005: $370,000) denominated in Vietnam Dong; and
$171,000 (2005: Nil) denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

All the Company’s trade payables as at 31 December 2006 and 2005 are denominated in Singapore dollars.

23.

Deferred income
Group
This refers to advance billings to customers for projects to be commenced within the next 12 months.

24.

Other payables and accruals
Group
2006
$’000
Accruals
Deposits received
Other payables
Provision for unutilised leave

Company
2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

7,361
53
2,278
382

5,918
47
613
274

36
−
226
27

120
–
238
21

10,074

6,852

289

379

In 2006, included in other payables of the Group are amounts due to related parties and associates of $134,000 (2005: $56,000),
and $3,000 (2005: $69,000) respectively. The amounts due to related parties and associates are non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
As at 31 December 2006, the following amounts are included in other payables and accruals of the Group:
a.
b.
c.

$953,000 (2005 : $670,000) denominated in Malaysian Ringgit;
$26,000 (2005 : $110,000) denominated in Indonesian Rupiah; and
$370,000 (2005 : $400,000) denominated in Vietnam Dong.

All the Company’s other payables and accruals as at 31 December 2006 and 2005 are denominated in Singapore dollars.
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25.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Group
2006
$’000
Current :
Finance lease obligations (Note 31)
Bank overdrafts
Bank term loans

Non-current:
Finance lease obligations (Note 31)
Bank term loans

2005
$’000

495
103
37

166
131
56

635

353

855
191

381
210

1,046

591

Short-term bank overdrafts of the Group are secured by fixed deposits pledged to the banks, by personal guarantees given by
certain directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, and by debenture deeds, which provide for first fixed and floating charges
over the present and future undertakings and assets of certain subsidiaries. The weighted average interest rate for the bank
overdrafts is 8.25% (2005: 7.75%) per annum.
Bank term loans are secured by the following :
(a)

a first legal mortgage on the leasehold building of a subsidiary in Malaysia (Note 11); and

(b)

the joint and several personal guarantees of certain directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The bank term loans mature in 2012 (2005 : 2012), and the effective interest rate for the bank term loans is 8.00% (2005: 7.75%)
per annum.

26.

Deferred taxation
Group
2006
$’000

Company
2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

As at 1 January
(Credit)/charge during the financial year (Note 9)

182
(46)

133
49

9
1

−
9

As at 31 December

136

182

10

9

216
−

248
1

15
−

13
−

216

249

15

13

Deferred taxation as at 31 December relates to the following:
Deferred tax liabilities:
Differences in depreciation
Others
Gross deferred tax liabilities
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26.

Deferred taxation (cont'd)
Group
2006
$’000

Company
2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

Deferred tax assets:
Provision for unutilised leave
Others

(78)
(2)

(66)
(1)

(5)
−

(4)
−

Gross deferred tax assets

(80)

(67)

(5)

(4)

136

182

10

9

Net deferred tax liabilities

As at 31 December 2006, the Group has unutilised tax losses carried forward relating to certain foreign subsidiary companies of
approximately $50,000 (2005 : Nil), available for offset against future taxable income. The potential deferred tax assets arising from
these unutilised tax losses have not been recognised as taxable profits from the foreign subsidiary companies against which the
deferred tax assets can be utilised, is uncertain.

27.

Share capital
Group and Company
2006
2005
$’000
$’000
Issued and fully paid-up share capital:
As at 1 January
101,093,690 (2005: 101,093,690) ordinary shares
Transfer of share premium reserve to issued share capital account
As at 31 December
101,093,690 (2005: 101,093,690) ordinary shares

7,582
3,400

7,582
−

10,982

7,582

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry
one vote per share.
There are outstanding options to subscribe to the Company’s shares granted under the Kingsmen Share Option Scheme as
disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements.
On 30 January 2006, in accordance with the Companies (Amendment) Act 2005, the concepts of “par value” and “authorised
capital” were abolished and on that date, the shares of the Group and the Company ceased to have par value. In addition, the
amount standing in the share premium reserve had become part of the Group’s and the Company’s share capital.

28.

Share premium
As at 1 January
Transfer of share premium reserve to issued share capital account
As at 31 December

3,400
(3,400)
−

3,400
−
3,400

In 2005, the share premium reserve pertained to the premium received by the Company on shares issued over its par value.
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29.

Other reserves
(a)

Foreign currency translation reserves
Foreign currency translation reserves relate to exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations, whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.
Group
2006
$’000

(b)

Company
2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

As at 1 January
Net effect of exchange differences

(51)
(114)

(66)
15

−
−

−
−

As at 31 December

(165)

(51)

−

−

Share option reserves
Share option reserves represent the fair value of the options granted to an executive of the Company and 25 employees of
the Group, including an employee who is an immediate family member of a certain director of the Company. The share option
reserves are not available for distribution as dividends.

30.

As at 1 January, as previously reported
Cumulative effects of adopting FRS 102

254
−

−
153

254
−

−
153

As at 1 January, as restated
Fair value of share options granted

254
−

153
101

254
−

153
101

As at 31 December

254

254

254

254

Total other reserves

89

203

254

254

Dividends paid
Group and Company
2006
2005
$’000
$’000
Final dividends of 1.00 (2005: 0.70) cents paid in respect of the previous financial year

1,011

708

The directors propose that a final dividend of 1.50 (2005: 1.00) cents per ordinary share, one-tier tax-exempt, amounting to
$1,517,000 (2005: $1,011,000) and a special dividend of 0.50 (2005 : Nil) cents per ordinary share, one-tier tax-exempt, amounting
to $506,000 (2005 : Nil) be paid in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2006, subject to approval by Shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting of the Company on 23 April 2007. This dividend has not been accrued for in the financial statements
in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards.
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31.

Finance lease obligations
The Group has entered into leases for its plant and equipment as lessee. There are no restrictions placed upon the Group by
entering into these leases.
Future minimum lease payments under finance lease obligations, together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments
are as follows :
Group
2006
Minimum
payment
$’000
Payable within one year
Payable within two to five years
Payable after five years

556
904
8

2005
Present
value of
payment
$’000
495
848
7

Minimum
payment
$’000

Present
value of
payment
$’000

194
414
7

166
375
6

Total minimum lease payments
Less: Amounts representing finance charges

1,468
(118)

1,350
−

615
(68)

547
−

Present values of minimum lease payments

1,350

1,350

547

547

Finance lease liabilities of the Group are secured by the rights to the leased plant and equipment (Note 11). The lease terms of
such finance lease obligations range from 1 to 7 (2005: 1 to 7) years. The average effective interest rate implicit in the finance lease
obligations is 3.20% (2005: 3.60%) per annum.

32.

Operating lease commitments
As lessee
The Group has entered into a lease agreement for office premises. These leases have an average life of between 1 to 9 (2005 : 1
to 5) years with no renewal option or escalation clauses included in the contracts. There are no restrictions placed upon the Group
by entering into these leases. Operating lease payments recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account during the financial
year amounted to $2,018,000 (2005 : $1,510,000).
Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases as of 31 December are as follows :
Group
2006
$’000
Within one year
Within two to five years
After five years

2005
$’000

1,970
6,046
5,114

1,271
29
−

13,130

1,300

As lessor
The Group and the Company have entered into lease agreements for office premises and machineries. These non-cancellable
leases have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of between 2 to 3 (2005 : 3) years with no renewal option or escalation clauses
included in the contracts.
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32.

Operating lease commitments (cont'd)
As lessor (cont'd)
Future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows :
Group
2006
$’000
Within one year
Within two to five years

33.

Company
2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

600
832

150
271

1,307
1,187

1,126
−

1,432

421

2,494

1,126

Performance guarantees
Group
2006
$’000
Performance guarantees given to customers secured by the joint
and several guarantees of certain directors of the Group

34.

14

2005
$’000

942

Significant related party transactions
The Group have the following significant related party transactions, which took place on terms agreed between the parties for the
financial years ended 31 December:
Associates :
Sales
Purchases
Corporate fee income
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Director of the Company :
Sales
Related parties :
Sales
Purchases
Corporate fee income
Rental expense – office premises
Interest income
Interest expense
Administrative income
Compensation of key management personnel* :
Short-term employee benefits
Contributions to defined contribution plans
Share options granted
Total compensation paid to key management personnel
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(479)
311
(177)
−

−

(334)
2,363
(175)
6

(10)

(5,601)
700
(377)
1,261
(13)
−
(12)

(781)
1,492
(297)
1,192
(2)
13
(12)

4,043
154
−

2,738
150
63

4,197

2,951

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2006

34.

Significant related party transactions (cont'd)
Group
2006
$’000
* Comprises amounts paid to :
Directors of the Company (Note 8)
Other key management personnel (Note 8)

2005
$’000

1,549
2,648

1,066
1,885

4,197

2,951

The remuneration of key management personnel are determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard to the performance
of individuals and market trends.

35.

Segment information
The Group’s primary format for reporting segment information is determined to be business segments, with each segment
representing a strategic business segment that offers different products/services.
Segment accounting policies are the same as the policies described in Note 2 to the financial statements. The Group generally
accounts for inter-segment sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties at current market prices.
Business segments
Exhibitions and Museums
This segment relates to the production of exhibition displays for trade shows and promotional events, as well as the production of
interiors and displays for museums and visitor centers.
Interiors
This relates to the provision of interior fitting-out services to commercial and retail properties.
Research and Design
This relates to design works for upmarket specialty stores, departmental stores, eateries, museums, visitors’ centers, corporate
offices, showrooms, trade shows, events, promotional functions and festivals.
Integrated Marketing Communication
This segment relates to event management and branding consultancy services.
Corporate and others
This relates to general corporate income and expense items.
Segment assets
Segment assets relate to property, plant and equipment, trade receivables, inventories and contracts work-in-progress.
Segment liabilities
Segment liabilities relate to trade payables, deferred income and progress billings in excess of contracts work-in-progress.
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35.

Segment information (cont'd)
Allocation basis and transfer pricing
Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, liabilities and expenses.
Transfer prices between business segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third
parties. Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between business segments. These transfers are eliminated on
consolidation.

Business segments
2006

Exhibitions
and
museums Interiors
$’000
$’000

Integrated
Corporate
Research
marketing
and
and design communication
others
Elimination Consolidation
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

Segment revenue
Sales to external customers
Inter-segment sales

46,794
1,711

56,039
4,060

3,453
−

2,659
−

−
−

−
(5,771)

108,945
−

Total

48,505

60,099

3,453

2,659

−

(5,771)

108,945

1,825

3,746

740

59

201

55

−

−

Segment results
Financial expenses
Financial income
Share of results of associates

(528)

−

−

−

Profit before taxation
Taxation

6,110
(1,426)

Profit for the financial year
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Investments in associates
Unallocated assets

4,684

12,500
1,442

24,153
892

719
−

890
−

248
−

−
−

Total assets
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
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38,510
2,334
17,380
58,224

9,218

15,334

33

538

36

−

Total liabilities
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Property, plant and
equipment written off
Bad debts recovered (trade)
Bad debts written off (trade)
Allowance for doubtful debts
(trade)
Write-back of allowance for
doubtful debts (trade)
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

5,842
(81)
93
256

25,159
13,904
39,063

282

1,822

12

11

54

−

2,181

502

467

78

37

53

−

1,137

37
(4)
111

14
−
48

4
−
−

−
−
−

−
−
−

2
−
−

935

207

−

−

−

−

(1)

(48)

−

−

−

−

(49)

7

−

−

−

−

−

7

57
(4)
159
1,142
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35.

Segment information (cont’d)

Business segments
2005

Exhibitions
and
museums Interiors
$’000
$’000

Integrated
Corporate
Research
marketing
and
and design communication
others
Elimination Consolidation
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

Segment revenue
Sales to external customers
Inter-segment sales

30,362
1,527

41,603
3,293

2,467
−

2,310
−

−
−

−
(4,820)

76,742
−

Total

31,889

44,896

2,467

2,310

−

(4,820)

76,742

1,622

1,440

114

72

97

87

−

−

Segment results
Financial expenses
Financial income
Share of results of associates

(496)

−

−

−

2,752
(65)
12
184

Profit before taxation
Taxation

2,883
(519)

Profit for the financial year

2,364

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Investments in associates
Unallocated assets

11,158
1,135

18,746
731

503
−

484
−

673
−

−
−

Total assets
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

44,056
8,017

11,203

76

244

309

−

Total liabilities
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Property, plant and equipment
written off
Bad debts recovered (trade)
Bad debts written off (trade)
Allowance for doubtful debts
(trade)
Write-back of allowance for
doubtful debts (trade)
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

31,564
1,866
10,626

19,849
8,669
28,518

771

966

106

40

55

−

1,938

488

168

74

21

44

−

795

2
(22)
3

2
−
−

4
−
3

−
−
15

−
−
−

−
−
−

8
(22)
21

359

77

−

−

−

−

436

(2)

−

−

−

−

−

(2)

(30)

(25)

−

−

−

−

(55)
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35.

Segment information (cont’d)
Geographical segments
Sales by geographical segments is based on the location of customers, except for site orders of booth accessories placed by
customers for official trade shows, which are based on location of the shows. Assets and additions to property, plant and equipment
are based on the location in which the assets are recognised.
Group
2006
$’000

2005
$’000

59,109
12,323
5,181
17,813
7,113
6,998
408

40,198
9,582
5,636
7,997
5,211
7,990
128

108,945

76,742

47,410
7,029
1,936
1,849

33,472
7,563
1,350
1,671

58,224

44,056

1,668
386
32
95

1,482
163
219
74

2,181

1,938

Sales by geographical segments are as follows:
Singapore
Malaysia
Vietnam
Asia
Europe
United States and Canada
Others

Carrying amounts of segment assets by geographical segments are as follows:
Singapore
Malaysia
Indonesia
Vietnam

Additions to property, plant and equipment by geographical segments are as follows:
Singapore
Malaysia
Indonesia
Vietnam

36.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing loans and borrowings, fixed deposits, and cash on hand and
at bank. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables, which are directly from its operations.
Exposures to credit risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk arise in the normal course of the Group’s
operations. The Group’s overall strategies, tolerance of risks and general risk management philosophy are determined by the Board
in accordance with prevailing economic and operating conditions.
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36.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)
Credit risk
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to financial assets. No other financial assets carry a significant exposure to credit risk. Cash and cash
equivalents are placed with reputable and well-established banks. To mitigate credit concentration, counter-party limit for each bank
has been established and monitored periodically.
It is the Group’s policy to transact with credit worthy counterparties. The Board has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit
risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single customer.
Foreign currency risk
The Group has foreign currency exposures, which arises mainly from sales or purchases by its operating units in currencies other
the unit’s functional currency. Approximately 20% of the Group’s sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the operating units making the sale, whilst almost 80% of costs are denominated in the unit’s functional currency.
The Group monitors its currency exposures on a regular basis. At any time when the Board anticipates net receipts in foreign
currencies in excess of approximately S$100,000 (or US$60,000 equivalent), it would enter into forward contracts to hedge against
the foreign currency exposure.
As at 31 December 2006, the Group does not have any outstanding forward contracts.
Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relate primarily to its placements in fixed deposits, bank term loans and borrowings.
The Group obtains additional financing through loans and borrowings. The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest
rates available without increasing its interest rate exposure. Information relating to the Group’s interest rate exposure is disclosed
in Notes 21, 25 and 31 to the financial statements.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that customers may not be able to settle obligations to the Group within the normal terms
of trade. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping
committed credit lines available.
Short-term funding is obtained from bank term loans and borrowings. The Group manages this risk by monitoring working capital
projections, taking into account the available banking facilities of the Group and ensuring that the Group has adequate working
capital to meet current requirements.

37.

Fair values of financial instruments
Fair value is defined as the amount at which the financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Fair values are obtained from
quoted market prices and discounted cash flow models as appropriate.
The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair values of each class of financial instruments:
(i)

Cash and bank balances, fixed deposits, bank overdrafts, other receivables, other payables and amounts due from/(to)
subsidiaries (non-trade)
The carrying amounts of these amounts approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.
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37.

Fair values of financial instruments (cont'd)
(ii)

Trade receivables and trade payables
The carrying amounts of these amounts approximate their fair values because these are subject to normal trade credit
terms.

(iii)

Unquoted equities (long-term)
In the directors’ opinion, the fair values of the unquoted equity shares held for long-term purposes cannot be measured
reliably. These long-term investments are carried at cost less allowance for impairment loss. The expected cash flows from
these investments are believed to be in excess of their carrying amounts at year-end.

(iv)

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and
borrowings that are carried in the financial statements at other than fair values as at 31 December:
Group
Note

Bank term loans
Finance lease obligations

25
31

Carrying amount
2006
2005
$’000
$’000
228
1,350

266
547

Fair value
2006
2005
$’000
$’000
149
1,199

164
555

Fair value has been determined using discounted estimated cash flows. The discount rates used are the current market
incremental lending rates for similar types of borrowing and leasing arrangements.
38.

Subsequent event
On 15 February 2007, the Singapore Finance Minister announced the revision in the Singapore corporate tax rate from 20% to 18%
with effect from Year of Assessment 2008. In accordance with FRS 12 – Income Taxes, and FRS 10 – Events After the Balance
Sheet Date this is a non-adjusting subsequent event and the financial effect of the reduced rate will be reflected in the 31 December
2007 financial year.
The Group’s deferred tax provision has been computed on the year end prevailing tax rate of 20%. Applying the reduced tax rate of
18% would result in a reduction in deferred tax liability of approximately $14,000.

39.

Directors’ remuneration
Number of directors of the Group in remuneration bands is as follows:
Group
2006
$500,000 and above
$250,000 to $499,999
Below $250,000

40.

2005

2
1
−

2
−
1

3

3

Approval of financial statements
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2006 were authorised for
issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 16 March 2007.
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Issued and Fully Paid-up Capital
Number of Shares
Class of Shares
Voting Rights

:
:
:
:

10,981,817.75
101,093,690
Ordinary Share
One Vote Per Share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
No. of
Shareholders

%

No. of Shares

%

1 - 999
1,000 - 10,000
10,001 - 1,000,000
1,000,001 and above

0
297
265
14

0.00
51.56
46.01
2.43

0
1,598,000
17,414,894
82,080,796

0.00
1.58
17.23
81.19

Total

576

100.00

101,093,690

100.00

No. of Shares

%

Islanda Pte. Ltd.
O-Vest Pte. Ltd.
Soh Siak Poh Benedict
Ong Chin Sim Simon
Alex Wee Huat Seng
Yee Chee Kong
Chong Siew Ling
Dominic Richard Pemberton
Ong Chin Kwan
Chong Fook Seng Patrick
Ng Hung Chiao Michael
Cheong Chai Keng
Lim Hock Chye Stephen
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd
Tay Kay Sock Gerald
DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd
Peter Noel Sampson Hanbury
Goh Ting Meng
Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd
CIMB-GK Securities Pte. Ltd.

25,328,707
25,328,707
5,056,293
5,056,280
2,827,733
2,827,733
2,623,174
2,500,000
2,407,947
2,276,000
2,151,173
1,528,359
1,123,690
1,045,000
950,413
769,000
757,000
667,760
500,000
498,000

25.05
25.05
5.00
5.00
2.80
2.80
2.59
2.47
2.38
2.25
2.13
1.51
1.11
1.03
0.94
0.76
0.75
0.66
0.49
0.49

Total

86,222,969

85.26

Size of Shareholdings

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
No. Name
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
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Substantial Shareholders
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 12 March 2007)
Name of Shareholders

Direct Interest
No. of Shares

Benedict Soh Siak Poh
Png Geok Choo Rose
Soh E-Ling Marianne
Soh Hsien Wern, Gavin
Jillian Soh E-Ping
Simon Ong Chin Sim
Vera Ong Lim Guek Noi
Islanda Pte Ltd
O-Vest Pte Ltd

5,056,293
100,000
5,056,280
25,328,707
25,328,707

Deemed Interest
%

No. of Shares

%

5.00
0.10
5.00
25.05
25.05

25,428,707
25,328,707
25,328,707
25,328,707
25,328,707
25,328,707
25,328,707
-

25.15
25.05
25.05
25.05
25.05
25.05
25.05
-

Notes:
1.

Mr Benedict Soh Siak Poh’s deemed interests include 100,000 shares held by Mdm Png Geok Choo Rose (wife) and 25,328,707
shares held by Islanda Pte Ltd by virtue of Sections 164(15) and 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 respectively.

2.

Mdm Png Geok Choo Rose’s deemed interests refer to the 25,328,707 shares held by Islanda Pte Ltd by virtue of Section 7 of the
Companies Act, Cap. 50.

3.

Ms Soh E-Ling Marianne’s, Mr Soh Hsien Wern, Gavin's and Ms Jillian Soh E-Ping's deemed interests refer to the 25,328,707
shares held by Islanda Pte Ltd by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

4.

Mr Simon Ong Chin Sim’s deemed interests refer to the 25,328,707 shares held by O-Vest Pte Ltd by virtue of Section 7 of the
Companies Act, Cap. 50.

5.

Mdm Vera Ong Lim Geok Noi’s deemed interests refer to the 25,328,707 shares held by O-Vest Pte Ltd by virtue of Section 7 of
the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

Shareholdings in the Hands of Public
21.0% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public. Accordingly, the company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing
Manual of the SGX-ST
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fourth Annual General Meeting of KINGSMEN CREATIVES LTD. will be held at 3 Changi South
Lane Singapore 486118 on Monday, 23 April 2007 at 11.00 a.m. for the following purposes:AS ORDINARY BUSINESS:1.

To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2006
together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

(Resolution 1)

2.

To declare a first and final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 1.5 cents per ordinary share and a special one-tier
tax exempt dividend of 0.5 cent per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2006.

(Resolution 2)

3.

To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 107 of the Company’s Articles of Association:Mr Chong Siew Ling
Mr Lee Hock Lye

(Resolution 3)
(Resolution 4)

Mr Lee Hock Lye will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and will be considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
4.

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$170,000.00 for the year ended 31 December 2006.

(Resolution 5)

5.

To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their
remuneration.

(Resolution 6)

6.

To transact any other ordinary business that may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS:To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions:7.

Authority to allot and issue new shares

(Resolution 7)

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the Listing Manual of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company
to allot and issue shares or convertible securities from time to time (whether by way of rights, bonus or
otherwise) and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such person as the Directors
may in their absolute discretion deem fit, provided that the aggregate number of shares and convertible
securities issued pursuant to such authority shall not exceed 50% of the issued share capital of the Company,
of which the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities issued other than on a pro-rata basis to
the existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed 20% of the issued share capital of the Company
(the percentage of issued share capital being based on the issued share capital at the time such authority
is given after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion of convertible securities or employee
share options on issue at the time such authority is given and any subsequent consolidation or subdivision
of shares) and, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, such authority shall continue
in force until the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or on the date by which the next
AGM is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. [see Explanatory Note (i)]
8.

(Resolution 8)

Authority to allot and issue shares under the Kingsmen Share Option Scheme
That the Directors be authorised and empowered to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company to
all the holders of options granted by the Company, whether granted during the subsistence of this authority or
otherwise, under the Kingsmen Share Option Scheme (“the Scheme”) upon the exercise of such options and
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Scheme established by the Company. [see Explanatory
Note (ii)]
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9.

Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

(Resolution 9)

That :(a)

approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST
(“Chapter 9”), for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies that are entities at risk (as
that term is used in Chapter 9), or any of them, to enter into any of the transactions falling within the
types of interested person transactions described in the letter to shareholders dated 4 April 2007 (the
“Letter”) with any party who is of the class of interested persons described in the Letter, provided that
such transactions are made on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the guidelines and
review procedures for such interested person transactions;

(b)

the approval given in paragraph (a) above (“the Shareholders’ Mandate”) shall, unless revoked or varied
by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company; and

(c)

the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and
things (including executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or
necessary or in the interests of the Company to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate and/or this
Resolution.” [see Explanatory Note (iii)]

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

JUDITH LOW CHU LI
WEE MAE ANN
Company Secretaries
Singapore
4 April 2007
EXPLANATORY NOTES:
(i)

The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of the
above Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting to allot and issue shares and convertible securities in the Company up to an
amount not exceeding in total fifty per cent (50%) of the issued share capital of the Company for such purposes as they consider
would be in the interest of the Company, provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of the issued capital of the Company.
The percentage of issued capital is based on the Company’s issued capital at the time the proposed Ordinary Resolution is passed
after adjusting for (a) new shares arising from the conversion of convertible securities or employee share options on issue at the
time the proposed Ordinary Resolution is passed and (b) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares. This authority will,
unless previously revoked or varied at a General Meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

(ii)

The Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of the
above Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting, to allot and issue shares in the Company subject to the maximum number of
shares prescribed under the terms and conditions of the Scheme.

(iii)

The Ordinary Resolution 9 proposed in item 9 above relates to the renewal of a mandate given by shareholders to the Company
on 11 August 2003, and modified and renewed by the Company on 26 April 2004, allowing the Company, its subsidiaries and
associated companies that are entities at risk (as the term is used in Chapter 9), or any of them, to enter into transactions with
interested persons as defined in Chapter 9. Please refer to the letter to shareholders dated 4 April 2007 for details.
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NOTES:
(i)

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the above Meeting may appoint not more than two proxies to attend and
vote instead of him.

(ii)

Where a member appoints two proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy in the
instrument appointing the proxies. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

(iii)

If the member is a corporation, the instrument appointing the proxy must be under its common seal or the hand of its attorney or a
duly authorised officer.

(iv)

The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 3 Changi South Lane Singapore
486118 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the above Meeting.

NOTICE OF BOOKS CLOSURE
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of Kingsmen Creatives Ltd. (the “Company”) will
be closed on 3 May 2007 for the preparation of dividend warrants.
Duly completed registrable transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar, Lim Associates (Pte) Ltd at 3 Church Street, #08-01
Samsung Hub, Singapore 049483 up to 5.00 p.m. on 2 May 2007 will be registered to determine shareholders’ entitlements to such
dividend.
Members whose Securities Accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with shares as at 5.00 p.m. on 2 May 2007
will be entitled to the proposed dividend.
Payment of the dividend, if approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 23 April 2007, will be made on 15
May 2007.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

JUDITH LOW CHU LI
WEE MAE ANN
Company Secretaries
Singapore
4 April 2007
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RENEWAL OF THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE
INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS (“THE IPT MANDATE”)

KINGSMEN CREATIVES LTD.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Directors:
Soh Siak Poh Benedict
Simon Ong Chin Sim
Chong Siew Ling
Khoo Ho Tong
Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair
Lee Hock Lye

Registered Office:
3 Changi South Lane
Singapore 486118

4 April 2007
To: The Shareholders of Kingsmen Creatives Ltd.

Dear Sir/Madam

RENEWAL OF THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS (“THE IPT MANDATE”)

1.

BACKGROUND
We refer to (a) the Notice of Annual General Meeting of Kingsmen Creatives Ltd. (“the Company”) dated 4 April 2007 (“the Notice”)
accompanying the Annual Report of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2006 (“the 2006 Annual Report”),
convening the Annual General Meeting (“the 2006 AGM”) of the Company which is scheduled to be held on 23 April 2007, and (b)
Ordinary Resolution 9 in relation to the renewal of the IPT Mandate under the heading “Special Business” set out in the Notice.

2.

THE IPT MANDATE
2.1

The Existing IPT Mandate. As disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 9 September 2003, (“the Prospectus”),
the Company had obtained shareholders’ approval for the IPT Mandate pursuant to Chapter 9 of the listing manual (“the
Listing Manual”) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). Details of the IPT Mandate were set
out on pages 126 to 130 of the Prospectus. The IPT Mandate was subsequently modified and renewed by the Company
at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 26 April 2004 (the “2004 EGM”) to (i) describe in greater detail and clarify
the guidelines and review procedures for Interested Person Transactions; and (ii) benefit the Group in expediting the
approval process for certain interested person transactions relating to sub-contract work of a value of between $100,000
to $249,999.
The IPT Mandate enables the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies which are considered to be “entities at
risk” within the meaning of Rule 904 of the Listing Manual, in the ordinary course of businesses, to enter into categories of
transactions with specified classes of the Company’s interested persons, provided that such transactions are entered into
on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms.
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2.2

Proposed Renewal of the IPT Mandate. The IPT Mandate was expressed to take effect until the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company, being the 2006 AGM. Accordingly, the directors (“the Directors”) of the Company
as at the date of this Letter propose that the IPT Mandate be renewed at the 2006 AGM, to take effect until the conclusion
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

2.3

Details of the IPT Mandate. Details of the IPT Mandate, including the rationale for, and the benefits to, the Company,
the review procedures for determining transaction prices with interested persons and other general information relating to
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, are set out in the Appendix to this Letter.
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3.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND THEIR ASSOCIATES
The interests of the Directors and substantial shareholders and their associates in the capital of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date are as follows:

Direct Interest
No. of Shares
%(1)
Directors
Benedict Soh (1)
Simon Ong (2)
Anthony Chong
Khoo Ho Tong
Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair
Lee Hock Lye
Substantial Shareholders
Islanda Pte Ltd (1)
O-Vest Pte Ltd (2)
Associates of the Directors or Controlling Shareholder
Ong Chin Kwan
Png Geok Choo Rose (3)

Deemed Interest
No. of Shares
%(1)

5,056,293
5,056,280
2,623,174
50,000
100,000
–

5.00
5.00
2.59
0.05
0.10
–

25,428,707
25,328,707
–
–
–
–

25.15
25.05
–
–
–
–

25,328,707
25,328,707

25.05
25.05

–
–

–
–

2,407,947
100,000

2.38
0.10

–
25,328,707

–
25.05

Notes:
(1)
Mr Benedict Soh is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by (i) Islanda Pte Ltd as he holds 50% of its equity; and (ii)
his wife,Ms Png Geok Choo Rose.

4.

(2)

Mr Simon Ong is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by O-Vest Pte Ltd as he holds 50% of its equity (of which 25%
is held on trust for his daughter, Ms Ong Mei Lin, Elita).

(3)

Mdm Png Geok Choo Rose is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Islanda Pte Ltd as she holds 25% of its
equity.

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S STATEMENT
The Audit Committee (currently comprising Mr Lee Hock Lye, Mr Prabhakaran Narayanan Nair and Mr Khoo Ho Tong) has reviewed
the terms of the IPT Mandate and is satisfied that the review procedures for IPTs, as well as the reviews to be made periodically
by the Audit Committee in relation thereto, are sufficient to ensure that IPTs will be made with the relevant class of Interested
Persons on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders. The
Audit Committee confirms that the methods and procedures for determining the transaction prices have not changed since the last
shareholders’ approval i.e. the 2005 EGM.
If, during the periodic reviews by the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee is of the view that the established guidelines and
procedures are not sufficient to ensure that the IPTs will be on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests
of the Company and its minority Shareholders, the Company will seek our Shareholders’ approval for a fresh mandate based on
new guidelines and procedures for transactions with Interested Persons.
The Audit Committee will also ensure that all disclosure and approval requirements for IPTs, including those required by the
prevailing legislation, the Listing Manual and the applicable accounting standards, as the case may be, are complied with.
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5.

DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATION
Mr Benedict Soh and Mr Simon Ong have direct and indirect interests in the issued share capital of the Kingsmen Affiliates. The
Directors who are considered independent for the purpose of Ordinary Resolution 9 are Messrs. Khoo Ho Tong, Prabhakaran
Narayanan Nair and Lee Hock Lye. Having considered, inter alia, the details of the IPT Mandate, including the rationale for, and the
benefits to, the Company, the review procedures for determining transaction prices with interested persons and the statement of
the Audit Committee, they are of the view that the IPT Mandate, as proposed to be renewed, is in the best interests of the Company
and accordingly recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of Ordinary Resolution 9 at the 2006 AGM.

6.

ABSTENTION FROM VOTING
Rule 919 of the Listing Manual requires that interested persons must not vote on any shareholders’ resolution approving any
mandate in respect of any interested person transactions. Accordingly, each of Mr Benedict Soh and Mr Simon Ong will abstain,
and has undertaken to ensure that their respective Associates will abstain, from voting at the 2006 AGM in respect of the Shares
held by them respectively in respect of Ordinary Resolution 9.

7.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The Directors collectively and individually accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information given and confirm that, having
made all reasonable enquiries, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the facts stated and opinions expressed in this Letter are
fair and accurate and that there are no material facts the omission of which would make any statement in this Letter misleading.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of the Directors

SOH SIAK POH BENEDICT
Group Managing Director
Kingsmen Creatives Ltd.
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APPENDIX
THE IPT MANDATE
1.

CHAPTER 9 OF THE LISTING MANUAL
1.1

Chapter 9 applies to transactions entered into between a listed company or any of its subsidiaries (other than a subsidiary
that is listed on the SGX-ST or an approved stock exchange (as defined below)) or associated companies (other than an
associated company that is listed on the SGX-ST or an approved stock exchange or over which the listed group, or the
listed group and its interested person(s) (as defined below), has no control) with a party who is an interested person of the
listed company (the “Interested Person Transactions”) or individually, the “Interested Person Transaction”).

1.2

Under the Listing Manual:
“approved stock exchange” means a stock exchange that has rules which safeguard the interests of shareholders against
interested person transactions according to similar principles to Chapter 9;
“associate”

(a)

(b)

in relation to any director, chief executive officer, substantial Shareholder or controlling
shareholder (being an individual) means:(i)

his immediate family;

(ii)

the trustees of any trust of which he or his immediate family is a beneficiary or,
in the case of a discretionary trust, is a discretionary object; and

(iii)

any company in which he and his immediate family together (directly or
indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more;

in relation to a substantial shareholder or a controlling shareholder (being a company)
means any company which is its subsidiary or holding company or is a subsidiary of
any such holding company or one in the equity of which it and/or such other company
or companies taken together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more;

“associated company”

means a company in which at least 20% but not more than 50% of its shares are held by the
listed company or group;

“chief executive officer”

means the most senior executive officer who is responsible under the immediate authority of
the board of directors for the conduct of the business of the issuer;

“control”

means the capacity to dominate decision-making, directly or indirectly, in relation to the
financial and operating practice of a company;

“controlling shareholder”

means a person who:

“interested person”

(a)

holds directly or indirectly 15% or more of the nominal amount of all voting shares in
the listed company (unless otherwise excepted by SGX-ST); or

(b)

in fact exercises control over a company;

means a director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder of the listed company, or
any associate of such director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder.
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1.3

Save for certain Interested Person Transactions, which are excluded under Chapter 9, an immediate announcement and/or
shareholders’ approval would be required in respect of transactions with interested persons if the value of the Interested
Person Transaction is equal to or exceeds certain financial thresholds.
An immediate announcement is required where:
(a)

the value of a proposed Interested Person Transaction is equal to, or more than, 3% of the listed group’s latest
audited consolidated net tangible assets (“NTA”); or

(b)

the aggregate value of all Interested Person Transactions entered into with the same interested person during
the same financial year, is equal to, or more than, 3% of the listed group’s latest audited consolidated NTA. An
announcement will have to be made immediately of the latest transaction and all future transactions entered into
with that same interested person during the financial year.

Shareholders’ approval (in addition to an immediate announcement) is required where:
(a)

the value of a proposed Interested Person Transaction is equal to, or more than, 5% of the listed group’s latest
audited consolidated NTA; or

(b)

the value of a proposed Interested Person Transaction, when aggregated with other Interested Person Transactions
entered into with the same interested person during the same financial year, is equal to, or more than, 5% of the
listed group’s latest audited consolidated NTA. The aggregation will exclude any Interested Person Transaction that
has been approved by shareholders previously, or is the subject of aggregation with another Interested Person
Transaction that has been previously approved by shareholders.

For the purposes of aggregation, Interested Person Transactions below $100,000 each are to be excluded.
1.4

2.

Part VIII of Chapter 9 permits a listed company to seek a mandate from its shareholders for recurrent transactions with
interested persons of a revenue or trading nature or those necessary for its day-to-day operations such as the purchase
and sale of supplies and materials, but not in respect of the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or business.

RATIONALE AND BENEFITS OF THE IPT MANDATE
2.1

All Kingsmen Affiliates engage in the similar business of designing and producing exhibits and interiors as the Group (“the
Business”). Together with the Kingsmen Affiliates, the Group has formed a strategic network of offices in 16 major cities
across the Asia Pacific and Middle East regions serving clients under the same “Kingsmen” brand while offering specific
local knowledge and insights for each market.

2.2

The rationale for allowing the Group and the Kingsmen Affiliates to provide sub-contracting services relating to the Business
to each other is two-fold. First, it allows the Group to maintain and foster relationships with its customers in the territories
that it operates in. Second, although the income historically from such work has generally not been large, the Group
believes that any income accruing to the Group will be beneficial.

2.3

The rationale for allowing the Company to provide corporate services to the Kingsmen Affiliates is as follows:(i)

the Group will be able to benefit from the additional income;

(ii)

in providing assistance to the Kingsmen Affiliates, the Group will continue to enjoy intangible benefits of greater
exposure of the “Kingsmen” name in territories that it does not operate in, thereby improving its branding profile;
and

(iii)

the Group will be able to secure more business from customers who require a single point of contact for projects
involving numerous countries in the Asia Pacific region.

In addition, having access to the Kingsmen Affiliates through the provision of corporate services will facilitate the
Group’s monitoring of whether the Kingsmen Affiliates are in compliance with their various undertakings in relation to the
Business.
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2.4

3.

The IPT Mandate is intended to facilitate transactions in the normal course of business of the Group which are transacted
from time to time with interested persons, provided that they are carried out on normal commercial terms and are not
prejudicial to Shareholders.

CATEGORIES OF INTERESTED PERSONS
The Controlling Shareholders and executive Directors, Mr Benedict Soh and Mr Simon Ong, are directors and shareholders of the
entired issued and paid-up share capital of Kingsmen International Pte Ltd (“Kingsmen International”), each holding 50.0% of its
equity interest. Ms Vera Ong Lim Guek Noi, the wife of Mr Simon Ong, and Ms Png Geok Choo Rose, the wife of Mr Benedict Soh,
are also directors of Kingsmen International.
Kingsmen International is an investment holding company incorporated in Singapore with an issued and paid-up share capital of
$3,600,000, and has equity interest in several Kingsmen Affiliates set out below. Accordingly, Kingsmen Affiliates are interested
persons under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual.
The details of the Kingsmen Affiliates, their respective operating territories and the equity held by, inter alia, Kingsmen International,
Mr Benedict Soh and Mr Simon Ong are as follows:
Name of Kingsmen Affiliate

Operating territory

Equity Interest

Kingsmen North Asia

Hong Kong

50.5% held by Kingsmen International

Kingsmen Hong Kong

Hong Kong

100.0% held by Kingsmen North Asia

Kingsmen Beijing

Beijing

100.0% held by Kingsmen North Asia

Kingsmen Taiwan

Taiwan

100.0% held by Kingsmen North Asia

Kingsmen Shanghai

Shanghai

100.0% held by Kingsmen North Asia

Kingsmen Macao

Macau

100.0% held by Kingsmen North Asia

Kingsmen Middle East

Middle East

34.0% held by Kingsmen International

Kingsmen India

India

19.5% held by Kingsmen International

Mr Benedict Soh is a non-executive director of Kingsmen North Asia, Kingsmen Hong Kong, Kingsmen Shanghai, Kingsmen Korea,
and Kingsmen Middle East. Mr Simon Ong is a non-executive director of Kingsmen Middle East.
4.

CATEGORIES OF INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
The IPT Mandate will apply to our Group’s transactions with the Kingsmen Affiliates.

5.

SCOPE OF THE IPT MANDATE
The transactions that are covered by the IPT Mandate are:
5.1

the provision by the Group of, and obtaining from, the Kingsmen Affiliates sub-contracting services relating to producing
exhibits and interiors; and
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5.2

the provision by the Group of corporate services to the Kingsmen Affiliates, which include the following:
•
•
•

6.

management expertise such as guidance and assistance on the administration, financial and other management
functions of the business and operations of the Kingsmen Affiliates;
design expertise such as guidance and assistance on the development and design of a project; and
marketing support such as worldwide marketing and promotional activities (including attendance at trade fairs,
seminars, production of brochures and marketing materials).

REVIEW PROCEDURES FOR INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
6.1

The Company has implemented the following procedures to supplement existing internal control procedures to ensure
that the provision of sub-contracting services to and from the Kingsmen Affiliates and the provision of corporate services
from the Group to the Kingsmen Affiliates are undertaken on normal commercial terms consistent with its usual business
practices and policies, which are generally no more favourable to the interested persons than those extended to unrelated
third parties.

6.2

The following review procedures are established with regards to the IPT Mandate:
(a)

For engaging a Kingsmen Affiliate to undertake sub-contract work of a value of $250,000 and above only, the
procedures set out under paragraph (b) “Selection of Sub-Contractors” on pages 108 and 109 of the Prospectus,
which is set out herein as follows:
In selecting a sub-contractor, the Group will seek quotes from at least two third party sub-contractors whenever
feasible. When a quote is sought from a Kingsmen Affiliate, the Group will ensure that Chapter 9 of the Listing
Manual is complied with. In addition, to ensure that the selection of the relevant Kingsmen Affiliate as sub-contractor
(in the event that such a selection should occur) is made on an arm’s length basis, the Directors will ensure that:
(I)

the relevant Kingsmen Affiliate’s quote shall not be higher than the most competitive quote of the other two
comparative quotes, if available, from third parties;

(II)

in determining which of the quotes is the most competitive, all relevant factors shall be taken into account,
including the nature of the project, the amount quoted, as well as the experience, expertise and reliability
of the relevant sub-contractors (to be determined in the light of their performance in past transactions
undertaken, if any);

(III)

should the relevant Kingsmen Affiliate be appointed as the sub-contractor notwithstanding that such
appointment is on terms less favourable than as determined in accordance with (I) and (II) set out on
page 108 of the Prospectus, or that the Group is not able to obtain quotes from other sub-contractors for
whatever reason, then the approval of the Audit Committee for such appointment must be obtained. The
Audit Committee will evaluate and weigh the commercial benefits of, and rationale for, transacting with
Kingsmen Affiliates before deciding on the appointment of the proposed sub-contractors. In reviewing the
terms of transaction, the Audit Committee will evaluate such terms in the light of prevailing industry norms
including the reasonableness of the proposed transaction terms; and

(IV)

the Controlling Shareholders, Mr Benedict Soh and Mr Simon Ong, will abstain from any decision-making
process of the Group in the selection of a sub-contractor for work to be done in the Kingsmen Affiliates
Territory whenever a quote for such sub-contracting work is to be sought from any Kingsmen Affiliates.

The engagement of a Kingsmen Affiliate to undertake sub-contract work of a value of between $100,000 to $249,999
shall require the review and approval of a Director who has no direct or indirect interest in such transaction. The
Director shall take into consideration factors such as the nature of the project, the amount quoted, as well as the
experience, expertise and reliability of the relevant sub-contractors in his review.
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(b)

In considering whether to accept any sub-contracting work of a value of $250,000 and above only offered by a
Kingsmen Affiliate, the Group shall take into account the gross margins for at least three most recent projects with
other customers in the relevant Group Territory which are comparable in scope and size. The Group may only accept
the sub-contract projects from the Kingsmen Affiliates only if the gross margin for that project is comparable with the
average gross margin of the three aforesaid projects. Should the Group decide to accept such sub-contract project
from the Kingsmen Affiliates even if the gross margin is lower, or in the event that the Group is not able to obtain a
suitable comparison from recent projects, approval from the Audit Committee is required to accept the sub-contract
project. The Audit Committee will evaluate and weigh the commercial benefits of, and rationale for, transacting with
the relevant Kingsmen Affiliate before deciding on the proposed sub-contracting project. In reviewing the terms of
the proposed transaction, the Audit Committee will evaluate such terms in the light of prevailing industry norms
including the reasonableness of the proposed transaction terms. The transactions with the Kingsmen Affiliates will
be subject to the provisions of the Listing Manual on interested person transactions.
The acceptance of any sub-contracting work of a value of between $100,000 to $249,999 offered by a Kingsmen
Affiliate shall require the review and approval of a Director who has no direct or indirect interest in such transaction.
The Director shall take into consideration factors such as the commercial benefit of undertaking the project, the
gross margins and reasonableness of the proposed transaction in his review.

(c)

For the provision of corporate services from the Company to the Kingsmen Affiliates:
(i)

The Company will appoint one of the executive Directors (other than Mr Benedict Soh and Mr Simon Ong)
(“the Corporate Services Director”) to be in charge of the provision of corporate services to the Kingsmen
Affiliates, whose duties shall include, inter alia, liaising with the Kingsmen Affiliates on the corporate services
to be provided, assigning personnel from the Group to provide such corporate services, and the fees and
payments in connection thereto, as well as for ensuring that the principles upon which such corporate
services are to be provided to the Kingsmen Affiliates as set out in (iii) found on page 129 of the Prospectus
have been adhered to; and

(ii)

The Corporate Services Director shall report the following to the Board, including the Audit Committee, on a
quarterly basis:
•

the nature of the corporate services provided to the Kingsmen Affiliates and the names of the
personnel assigned to provide such services during the quarter;

•

the corporate fees accrued to the Group for that quarter;

•

whether he is aware that the principles set out in (iii) found on page 129 of the Prospectus have been
adhered to for that quarter; and

•

whether he is aware that the Kingsmen Affiliates, Mr Benedict Soh or Mr Simon Ong have breached
or could potentially breach their respective undertakings given to the Company.

The Audit Committee will review the corporate fees received from each of the Kingsmen Affiliates and the
nature and extent of the services rendered to these companies. The Audit Committee shall satisfy itself that
the fees are in accordance with the agreed formula, and that the fees received are reasonable and on normal
commercial terms, and will not be prejudicial to the Group and minority Shareholders.
Currently, Mr Anthony Chong has been appointed as the Corporate Services Director to be in charge of
the provision of corporate services to the Kingsmen Affiliates and the Board is entitled to appoint another
director in his place at its discretion.
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(iii)

6.3

94

The principles upon which corporate services are provided by the Group to the Kingsmen Affiliates are as
follows:
•

The provision of management and design expertise is carried out on an ad hoc basis as and when
an issue arises or at the request of a Kingsmen Affiliate. Personnel from the Group who provides
such services will not be seconded to the Kingsmen Affiliate, but will remain as employees of,
report to and take instructions from the Group. Further, the Group’s personnel will not be involved
in matters concerning business strategy, customer development or implementation of design work
for any Kingsmen Affiliate. Both Mr Benedict Soh and Mr Simon Ong will not be assigned to provide
management and design expertise to the Kingsmen Affiliates.

•

The provision of marketing support includes the development and implementation of a worldwide
marketing strategy covering the Kingsmen Affiliates Territories. Any new business derived from such
marketing efforts will be allocated according to the provisions described under the “Potential Conflicts
of Interest” section on pages 106 to 113 of the Prospectus.

(iv)

In relation to the use of the “Kingsmen” name, the Company may at any time disallow a Kingsmen Affiliate
for using the name. In addition, each Kingsmen Affiliate has undertaken to the Company that it will inform
the Company of any matter arising in the course of its business that may be detrimental to the “Kingsmen”
brand and to give the Company access to such information.

(v)

Mr Benedict Soh and Mr Simon Ong have undertaken to the Company to promptly inform the Board should
they become aware if any of the undertakings given under the “Potential Conflicts of Interest” section on
page 111 of the Prospectus have been or could potentially be breached.

(vi)

The Board will on a quarterly basis, or more frequently if necessary, review whether the principles on which
the corporate services are to be provided have been adhered to.

(vii)

As and when the Board receives any information that the undertaking under the “Potential Conflicts of
Interest” section on page 111 of the Prospectus have been or potentially could be breached or that the
principles upon which the corporate services are to be provided have not been adhered to, the Board and
Audit Committee shall review the matter, and where necessary obtain legal advice as to the best steps to
take to address such breach or non-adherence and to take all necessary steps to safeguard its position in
the light of the legal advice given.

To ensure that interested person transactions not covered by the existing IPT Mandate are undertaken at arm’s length
and on normal commercial terms, and will not be prejudicial to the Company and its minority Shareholders, the Audit
Committee shall adopt the following procedure when reviewing interested person transactions:
(a)

When purchasing items from or engaging the services of an interested person, two other quotations from noninterested persons will be obtained (where available) for comparison to ensure that the interests of minority
Shareholders are not disadvantaged. The purchase price or fee for services shall not be higher than the most
competitive price or fee of the two other quotations from non-interested persons. In determining the most competitive
price or fee, all pertinent factors, including but not limited to quality, delivery time and track record will be taken into
consideration;

(b)

When selling items or supplying services to an interested person, the price and terms of two other successful sales
of a similar nature to non-interested persons will be used for comparison to ensure that the interests of minority
Shareholders are not disadvantaged. The sale price or fee for the supply of services shall not be lower than the
lowest sale price or fee of the two other successful transactions with non-interested persons; and

(c)

When renting properties from or to an interested person, the Directors shall take appropriate steps to ensure that
such rent is commensurate with the prevailing market rates, including adopting measures such as making relevant
inquiries with landlords of similar properties and obtaining necessary reports or reviews published by property
agents (including an independent valuation report by a property valuer, where considered appropriate). The rent
payable shall be based on the most competitive market rental rate of similar property in terms of size and location,
based on the results of the relevant inquiries.
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6.4

The Audit Committee will review all interested person transactions, if any, at least half-yearly to ensure that they are
carried out on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the procedures outlined above. It will take into account all
relevant non-quantitative factors. Such review includes the examination of the transaction and its supporting documents
or such other data deemed necessary by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee shall request for any additional
information pertaining to the transaction under review from independent sources, advisers or valuers as it deems fit.
In the event that a member of the Audit Committee is interested in any interested person transaction, he will abstain
from reviewing that particular transaction. The Audit Committee will approve the guidelines and review procedures for
transactions under the IPT Mandate to ensure that these transactions are transacted on normal commercial terms and
will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and minority Shareholders. Furthermore, if during these periodic
reviews, the Audit Committee believes that the guidelines and procedures as stated above are not sufficient to ensure that
the interested person transactions will be conducted on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests
of the Company and minority Shareholders, the Company will seek a fresh mandate from Shareholders based on new
guidelines and procedures.

6.5

In addition, the Audit Committee will include the review of interested person transactions as part of its standard procedures
while examining the adequacy of its internal controls. The Board will also ensure that all disclosure, approval and other
requirements on interested person transactions, including those required by prevailing legislation, the Listing Manual and
financial reporting standards, are complied with. In addition, such transactions will also be subject to Shareholders’ approval
if deemed necessary by the Listing Manual.

6.6

The IPT Mandate will not cover any transactions by the Company, its subsidiaries and its associated companies or any of
them, with Kingsmen Affiliates that is below $100,000 in value as the threshold and aggregation requirements of Chapter
9 of the Listing Manual would not apply to such transactions.
Transactions with interested persons (including Kingsmen Affiliates) which do not fall under the ambit of the IPT Mandate
shall be subject to the relevant provisions of Chapter 9, or other applicable provisions of the Listing Manual and/or
Companies Act, if any.

7.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS PURSUANT TO THE IPT MANDATE
Disclosure will be made in the annual report of the Company of the aggregate value of interested person transactions entered into
pursuant to the IPT Mandate during the each financial year during which the IPT Mandate is in force. In addition, the Company will
announce the aggregate value of transactions entered into pursuant to the IPT Mandate during the relevant financial period within
the required time frame stipulated in the Listing Manual.
Disclosure has been made in the Annual Report of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2006, of the aggregate
value of transactions concluded with Interested Persons pursuant to the IPT Mandate during the financial year, and will be made
in the Company’s Annual Reports for subsequent financial years that the IPT Mandate continues to be in force, in accordance with
the requirements of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual.
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PROXY FORM

KINGSMEN CREATIVES LTD.
(Company Registration No. 200210790Z)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

IMPORTANT
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy shares in the capital of Kingsmen Creatives Ltd., this Annual Report is
forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.
2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by such CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported
to be used by them.
I/We,

(Name)

of

(Address)

being a member/members of KINGSMEN CREATIVES LTD. (the “Company”) hereby appoint:
Name

Address

NRIC/Passport No.

Proportion of
Shareholdings (%)

Address

NRIC/Passport No.

Proportion of
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)
Name

as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf, at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company, to be held on Monday,
23 April 2007 at 11.00 a.m., and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be
proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific directions as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at
the AGM and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion.
No. Resolutions relating to:

*

For*

1

Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2006

2

Payment of proposed first and final one-tier tax exempt dividend and special
one-tier tax exempt dividend

3

Re-election of Mr Chong Siew Ling as a Director

4

Re-election of Mr Lee Hock Lye as a Director

5

Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$170,000.00

6

Re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors

7

Authority to allot and issue new shares

8

Authority to allot and issue shares under the Kingsmen Share Option Scheme

9

Approval for renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions
Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick (✓) within the box provided.

Dated this

day of

,2007.
Total number of shares in:
(a) CDP Register
(b) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

!

Against*

No. of shares

Notes
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.
6.
7.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his stead.
Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the proportion of the shareholding to be represented by each proxy shall be specified in this
proxy form. If no proportion is specified, the Company shall be entitled to treat the first named proxy as representing the entire shareholding and
any second named proxy as an alternate to the first named or at the Company’s option to treat this proxy form as invalid.
A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in
section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares registered in your name in
the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this
proxy form will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.
This proxy form must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 3 Changi South Lane Singapore 486118 not less than 48 hours before
the time set for the Meeting.
This proxy form must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where this proxy form is executed by a
corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.
Where this proxy form is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing
previous registration with the Company) be lodged with this proxy form, failing which this proxy form shall be treated as invalid.

General
The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are
not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the Proxy Form. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register,
the Company may reject a Proxy Form if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository
Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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